# Thesis for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

# Attempts at improving fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy by biochemical modulators or by biomarker measurements with laser scanning cytometry

# Attila Megyeri M.D.

Advisor:

Péter Kovács M.D., Ph.D.

UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN FACULTY OF MEDICINE, MEDICAL AND HEALTH SCIENCE CENTER DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACOLOGY AND PHARMACOTHERAPY

Debrecen, 2006.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	CONTENTSIBBREVIATIONSIVUCTION1EW OF THE LITERATURE3RMACOKINETICS AND MECHANISMS OF ACTION OF 5-FU3CHEMICAL MODULATION OF FLUOROPYRIMIDINE ACTIVITY7Leucovorin7Uridine and its prodrugs8Ethyl-deoxyuridine11V ORAL FLUOROPYRIMIDINE PRODRUGS12UFT12Capecitabine13S-114TAS-10215IVIDUALIZED CANCER CHEMOTHERAPY BY BIOMARKER MEASUREMENTS IN10RS16Tumor specific metabolism of fluoropyrimidine prodrugs16Biomarkers may predict the efficacy of fluoropyrimidines161 Thymidine phosphorylase (TP)172 Dihydropyrimidine-dehydrogenase (DPD)183 Thymidylate synthase (TS)19Laser-scanning cytometry202 Tissue investigations with laser-scanning cytometry22
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	IV
1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
2.1 Pharmacokinetics and mechanisms of action of 5-FU	3
2.2 BIOCHEMICAL MODULATION OF FLUOROPYRIMIDINE ACTIVITY	7
2.2.1 Leucovorin	
2.2.2 Uridine and its prodrugs	
2.2.3 Ethyl-deoxyuridine	
2.3 NEW ORAL FLUOROPYRIMIDINE PRODRUGS	
2.3.1 UFT	
2.3.2 Capecitabine	
2.3.3 S-1	14
2.3.4 TAS-102	15
2.4 INDIVIDUALIZED CANCER CHEMOTHERAPY BY BIOMARKER MEASUREMENTS I	N
TUMORS	16
2.4.1 Tumor specific metabolism of fluoropyrimidine prodrugs	
2.4.2 Biomarkers may predict the efficacy of fluoropyrimidines	
2.4.2.1 Thymidine phosphorylase (TP)	17
2.4.2.2 Dihydropyrimidine-dehydrogenase (DPD)	
2.4.2.3 Thymidylate synthase (TS)	19
2.4.3 Laser-scanning cytometry (LSC) for biomarker determinations	
2.4.3.1 Laser-scanning cytometry	20
2.4.3.2 Tissue investigations with laser-scanning cytometry	
2.5 COLONY STIMULATING FACTORS IN CANCER CHEMOTHERAPY	23
2.6 GREEN FLUORESCENT PROTEIN LABELING IN CANCER RESEARCH	25
3 GOALS	
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
4.1 MODULATION OF THE MYELOTOXICITY OF 5-FLUOROURACIL IN MICE	
4.1.1 Drugs and treatment schedules	
4.1.1.1 Drugs	
4.1.1.2 Administration of drugs	
4.1.1.3 Doses	

4.1.1	.4 Dose schedules	
4.1.2	Experimental animals	31
4.1.3	Cell counts	31
4.1.4	Colony assay for hematopoietic progenitor cells	32
4.1.5	Statistical analysis	32
4.2 Mi	EASUREMENTS OF FLUOROPYRIMIDINE METABOLIZING ENZYMES IN SINGLE C	ELLS
AN	ID TISSUE SECTIONS	
4.2.1	Preparation of single cells for LSC measurements	33
4.2.1	.1 Cell cultures	
4.2.1	.2 Slide preparation	
4.2.1	.3 Indirect immunofluorescent labeling of enzymes	
4.2.2	Preparation of tissue sections for LSC measurements	34
4.2.2	2.1 Preparation of "artificial tissues" from established cancer cell lines	
4.2.2	2.2 Slide preparation	
4.2.2	2.3 Indirect immunofluorescent labeling of enzymes	
4.2.3	Laser-scanning cytometry on single cells	35
4.2.4	Laser-scanning cytometry on tissue sections	35
4.2.5	Data analysis	36
4.2.5	5.1 Parameters used for characterizing the enzyme levels	
4.2.5	5.2 Normalization	
4.2.5	5.3 Contour mapping of enzyme levels and ratios of enzyme levels in tumor section	ons 36
4.3 Es	TIMATING THE SENSITIVITY OF TUMOR CELL LINES TO 5'-DFUR WITH THE M	TT ac
AS	SAY	
4.4 Es	TIMATING THE SENSITIVITY OF LASER-SCANNING CYTOMETRY TO DETECT CE	LLS
EX	PRESSING GREEN FLUORESCENT PROTEIN	
4.4.1	Cell sample collection and preparation	37
4.4.2	Fluorescence measurements	37
5 RESUL	TS	39
5.1 EF	FFECTS OF LV, U OR UDPG AND G-CSF ON THE HEMATOTOXICITY OF 5-FU	
5.1.1	Effect of a single ip. dose of 5-FU or the combination of LV+5-FU on th	е
	myelopoiesis of mice	39
5.1.2	Uridine post-treatment reduced the bone marrow damage caused by LV-	+ <i>5-FU</i>
	41	
5.1.3	Effect of G-CSF on the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU	42
5.1.4	The combination of G-CSF and uridine was synergistic in mitigating the	
	LV+5-FU-induced neutropenia	43
5.1.5	UDPG-rescue reduced the LV+5-FU-induced damage to bone marrow	45
5.2 EF	FECT OF 5-ETHYL-2'-DEOXYURIDINE (EDU) ON THE BONE MARROW TOXICIT	'Y OF
5-H	FU	49

	5.2.1 Fractionated dosing of 5-FU reduced its myelotoxicity (Fig. 5.7)	49
	5.2.2 Effect of EDU on the myelopoiesis in mice	50
	5.2.3 EDU increased the myelotoxicity of 5-FU	51
	5.2.3.1 Single-dose schedule (Fig. 5.8)	51
	5.2.3.2 Fractionated-dose schedule (Fig. 5.9)	52
	5.3 MEASUREMENTS OF FLUOROPYRIMIDINE METABOLIZING ENZYMES WITH LASER	
	SCANNING CYTOMETRY (LSC)	55
	5.3.1 TP and DPD measurements in single cells and "artificial tissue sections".	55
	5.3.1.1 TP in single and double stained single cells	55
	5.3.1.2 TP in double stained "artificial tissue sections"	55
	5.3.1.3 Results of DPD measurements	58
	5.3.1.4 TP/DPD ratio measurements	59
	5.3.2 Correlation between 5'-DFUR sensitivity and immunofluorescence	
	measurements	60
	5.3.3 Estimation of enzyme levels in a tumor section	61
	5.4 ESTIMATING THE SENSITIVITY OF LASER SCANNING CYTOMETRY FOR DETECTION (	ЭF
	RARE GFP POSITIVE CELL IN A GFP NEGATIVE POPULATION	63
	5.4.1 Separation of GFP-/- and GFP+/- samples	63
	5.4.2 Detection of rare GFP+/- cells mixed with GFP-/- cells	65
6	DISCUSSION	66
	6.1 EFFECTS OF SOME BIOCHEMICAL MODULATORS ON THE MYELOTOXICITY OF 5-FU	66
	6.2 MEASUREMENTS OF FLUOROPYRIMIDINE METABOLIZING ENZYMES WITH LASER	
	SCANNING CYTOMETRY	73
	6.3 ESTIMATING THE SENSITIVITY OF LASER SCANNING CYTOMETRY FOR THE DETECT	ION
	OF RARE GFP POSITIVE CELLS IN A GFP NEGATIVE POPULATION	76
7	SUMMARY	78
8	REFERENCES	80
	PUBLICATIONS ON WHICH THIS THESIS IS BASED ON	94
9	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	98

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5'-DFUR	5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine, doxyfluridine, Furtulon®		
5-FU	5-fluorouracil		
ANC	absolute neutrophil count		
capecitabine	pentyl 1-(5-deoxy-beta-D-ribofuranosyl)-5- fluoro-1,2-dihydro-2-oxo-4-		
	pyrimidinecarbamate, Xeloda®		
CDHP	5-chloro-2,4-dihydroxypyridine		
CFUc	Colony Forming Unit in culture		
CH <sub>2</sub> -THF	5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate		
CSF	colony stimulating factor		
CYP450	cytochrome P 450		
DHFU	5,6-dihydro-fluorouracil		
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid		
DPD	dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase		
dR-1-P	2-deoxyribose-1-phosphate		
dTMP	deoxythymidine-5'-monophosphate		
dTDP	deoxythymidine-5'-diphosphate		
dTTP	deoxythymidine-5'-triphosphate		
dUMP	deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate		
dUTP	deoxyuridine-5'-triphosphate		
EDU	5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine		
ELISA	enzyme linked immunosorbent assay		
FBS	fetal bovine serum		
FDA	Food and Drug Adminstration		
FdUDP	5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-diphosphate		
FdUMP	5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate		
FdUTP	5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-triphosphate		
FPGS	folylpolyglutamate synthase		
FUDP	fluorouridine diphosphate		
FUdR	fluorodeoxyuridine		
FUMP	fluorouridine monophosphate		
FUR	fluorouridine		
FUTP	fluorouridine triphosphate		
G-CSF	granulocyte colony stimulating factor, filgrastim		
GFP	green fluorescent protein		
GM-CFU	Granulocyte Macrophage Colony Forming Unit		
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor		

IHC	immunohistochemistry		
IL-3	interleukin-3		
LSC	Laser Scanning Cytometer or Laser Scanning Cytometry		
LV	leucovorin, 5'-formyltetrahydrofolate		
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid		
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2yl)-2,3-diphenyltetrazolium bromide		
OPRT	orotate phosphoribosyl transferase		
PBS	phosphate buffered saline		
PCR	polymerase chain reaction		
PD-ECGF	platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor		
PN401	code for an acetylated prodrug of uridine, 2',3',5'-tri-O-acetyluridine		
PRPP	5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate		
RNA	ribonucleic acid		
RR	ribonulceotide reductase		
S-1	a combination of tegafur, CDHP and potassium oxonate		
TAS-102	combination of TFT and TPI		
tegafur	5-fluoro-1-(tetrahydro-2-furyl)-uracil, Ftorafur®		
TFT	α,α,α-trifluorothymidine		
TF-thymine	trifluorothymine		
TF-TMP	trifluorothymidine-monophosphate		
TF-TDP	trifluorothymidine-diphosphate		
TF-TTP	trifluorothymidine-triphosphate		
ТК	thymidine kinase		
TP	thymidine phosphorylase		
TPI	thymidine phosphorylase inhibitor		
TS	thymidylate synthase		
UDPG	uridine diphosphoglucose		
UFT®	a combination of tegafur and uracil in 1:4 molar ratio		
UK	uridine kinase		
UP	uridine phosphorylase		
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor		

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

In spite of their more than 40-year history, fluoropyrimidine antimetabolites are still widely used for cancer therapy, especially in advanced colorectal and breast cancer. Although the fluoropyrimidine based chemotherapy e.g. in advanced colorectal cancer is still among the most active chemotherapeutic protocols, it is relatively ineffective, often resulting in objective responses for less than a third of the patients without significant benefit in terms of overall survival. These characteristics lead to extensive research aimed at improving the efficacy of fluoropyrimidines.

5-fluorouracil (5-FU), the first fluoropyrimidine drug, was designed rationally. Studies in the early 1950s showed that uracil was taken up and incorporated to a much greater extent in cancer tissues than in normal tissues (Rutman et al. 1954). This led to the synthesis of uracil analogs of which 5-FU was the most active against cancer models in rodents.

In order to exert its cytotoxic effect, 5-FU has to be converted to one of its nucleotides. This activation is catalyzed by the enzymes participating in the normal pyrimidine metabolism of cells. The existing (mostly only quantitative) differences between cancer cells and normal cells in the amount/activity of these enzymes and their substrates provide the basis of 5-FU's tumor selective cytotoxic activity. The complex anabolism and catabolism of 5-FU in the cells offers possibilities for modulation of its efficacy and/or toxicity by other drugs influencing these processes. Additionally, the level/activity of metabolizing enzymes in the tumor cells/tissues may predict the response to fluoropyrimidine therapy, which would be a major contribution to the individualization of chemotherapy.

Over the past twenty odd years several modulation strategies have been developed to increase the anticancer activity of 5-FU, to overcome clinical resistance and to protect or rescue normal cells from 5-FU-induced damage. The main strategies that have been explored to modulate the anticancer activity of 5-FU include reduction of the degradation or increasing the activation of 5-FU, and enhancing the binding of 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate (FdUMP), the main active metabolite of 5-FU, to thymidylate synthase (TS), the main target of fluoropyrimidines. Of these, the last approach has lead to intensive studies and wide-spread clinical application of leucovorin (LV, 5'-formyltetrahydrofolate) as a biochemical modulator of 5-FU. As regards the selective protection of normal tissues from 5-FU-induced damage, uridine was examined because of the association between the incorporation of 5-FU into RNA and cytotoxicity. More recent approaches to improve the clinical efficiency of fluoropyrimidines have focused on (i) the development of prodrugs of

5-FU that can be given orally and (ii) the use of inhibitors of enzymes involved in the catabolism of 5-FU. The two most successful results of these recent developments already in clinical use are **tegafur-uracil (UFT**<sup>TM</sup>) and **capecitabine (Xeloda**<sup>TM</sup>). The development of UFT<sup>TM</sup> addressed both of the above-mentioned criteria at once. Doxifluridine [(5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine (5'-DFUR) Furtulon<sup>TM</sup>], an oral prodrug of 5-FU, has been used for more than twenty years in Japan but its toxicity due to the extratumoral liberation of 5-FU restricted its benefits. To overcome this problem, capecitabine, a prodrug of 5-FU.

Unfortunately, the response rates to these new therapies are still not satisfactory, and the overall survival is not prolonged. One of the reasons for the relative ineffectiveness is most probably the large heterogeneity of individual tumors at the molecular level. Various factors may be responsible for the determination of tumor response to 5-FU and the quantitative differences may result in fundamentally different responses. Additionally, the differences might not affect every cell in the tumor tissue and specific histological patterns in the distribution of markers, which cannot be detected by traditional methods using homogenized tissues, might also influence the tumor response (Kobayashi et al. 2005). Further improvement in the response rates and survival can be expected from the careful selection of patients based on objective measurements of selected molecular markers. It is also expected that increasing the number of measured molecular determinants and considering their histological localization would provide a better way for the selection of those subpopulations who will respond to chemotherapy. Indeed, various investigators showed (Salonga et al. 2000 and Ishikawa et al. 1998) that measurement of more than one marker correlated better with response to fluoropyrimidine therapy and markedly enhanced the ability to predict tumor response to fluoropyrimidine based chemotherapy.

It is hoped that the revolutionary new method of laser-scanning cytometry – or other similar techniques sometimes collectively referred to as "slide-based cytometry" – would be suitable for the quantitative measurement of more than one such markers together at a previously unprecedented speed and accuracy, as well as provide a tool to connect these data with conventional histology. Another potential advantage of laser-scanning cytometry is the feasibility of detecting cells expressing fluorescent proteins (e.g., green fluorescent protein, GFP) even if they amount only to a small minority (<0.1%) of cells in a tissue or organ. The identification of cells expressing fluorescent proteins coupled with the simultaneous quantitative estimation of various other markers in the same cells may provide a useful method in experimental cancer research to study the early phases of homing of cells which play a major role in the spread of malignant cells.

## **2 OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

## 2.1 Pharmacokinetics and mechanisms of action of 5-FU

Absorption of 5-FU after oral administration is incomplete and unpredictable leading to erratic **bioavailability**. This is why 5-FU is mostly given intravenously, either as bolus or a continuous infusion. Rapid intravenous administration of usual doses results in **peak plasma concentrations** of 0.1 to 1.0 mM, whereas, if given by continuous intravenous infusion for 24 to 120 hours, 5-FU achieves **steady-state plasma concentrations** in the range of 0.5 to 8.0  $\mu$ M. Unfortunately, there is no evidence that plasma drug concentrations can predict antitumor effect or host cell toxicity. Following parenteral administration of 5-FU, the drug is rapidly **distributed** to tissues and extracellular fluid, including intestinal mucosa, bone marrow, liver, brain, cerebrospinal fluid, and neoplastic tissues.

The **elimination** of 5-FU is rapid, with an apparent terminal **half-life** of approximately 5 to 20 minutes. This is due primarily to a swift **catabolism**, the first and ratelimiting step of which is catalyzed by dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) present mainly in the liver but also in many other tissues, including intestinal mucosa and tumor cells. DPD reduces 5-FU to 5,6-dihydro-fluorouracil, a therapeutically inactive derivative ultimately degraded to  $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -alanin. Renal **excretion** of unchanged 5-FU in 24 hours amounts to only 5 to 20% of a single intravenous dose. As mentioned in the *Introduction*, 5-FU is an analog of uracil with a fluorine atom at the C-5 position in place of hydrogen (Fig. 2.1.). The van der Waals radius of the fluorine atom resembles that of hydrogen which allows the molecule to mimic uracil biochemically (Chabner et al. 2005). 5-FU rapidly enters the cell using the same facilitated transport mechanism as uracil and intracellularly undergoes the same anabolic and catabolic reactions as uracil, with the exception of the methylation at position 5, catalyzed by thymidylate synthase (TS, see later).

There are three main active metabolites of 5-FU: 5-fluorouridine-5'- triphosphate (FUTP), 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate (FdUMP) and 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-triphosphate (FdUTP, Fig. 2.2.).

For the formation of the 5'-monophosphate nucleotide (fluorouridine monophosphate, FUMP), various routes are available in animal cells: (i) 5-FU may be converted to fluorouridine by uridine phosphorylase and then to FUMP by uridine kinase, or (ii) it can be

directly converted to FUMP by orotate phosphoribosyl transferase (OPRT) using 5phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) as a cofactor (Fig. 2.2.). FUMP then can be further phosphorylated to FUDP and FUTP and incorporated into RNA. Similarly, at least two metabolic pathways are available for the conversion of 5-FU to FdUMP: (i) 5-FU may be transformed to the deoxyriboside fluorodeoxyuridine (FUdR) by thymidine phosphorylase (TP) which, in turn, can be phosphorylated to FdUMP by thymidine kinase. (ii) An alternative – and more important – route is the conversion of fluorouridine diphosphate (FUDP) to fluorodeoxyuridine diphosphate (FdUDP) by the enzyme ribonucleotide reductase which, in turn, can be dephosphorylated to FdUMP. FdUDP can also be phosphorylated to form FdUTP which then can be incorporated into DNA instead of deoxythymidine-5'triphosphate (dTTP, Fig. 2.2.).

In all of the above mentioned enzyme reactions, fluorouracil or its metabolites substitute uracil and, using the "false substrates", "false products" are produced, which can be used by further anabolic processes, e.g. incorporated into RNA or DNA, but the metabolic routes will not be blocked. The only exception is the reaction catalyzed by TS. This enzyme catalyzes the methylation of uracil at position 5 in 2'-deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate (dUMP) to deoxythymidine-5'-monophosphate (dTMP, thymidylate) and provides the sole of *de novo* source thymidylate. However, the fluorine-carbon bond in 5-FU is much tighter than that of C-H in uracil and prevents the methylation of FdUMP by TS. Instead, in the presence of the physiological cofactor 5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate (CH<sub>2</sub>-THF), FdUMP locks the enzyme in an inhibited state. The TS protein is a dimer, both subunits of which contain a nucleotide binding site and a binding site for CH<sub>2</sub>-THF. When FdUMP binds to the nucleotide binding site, a stable ternary complex is formed with the enzyme and CH<sub>2</sub>-THF, thereby blocking the binding of the normal substrate dUMP and inhibiting dTMP synthesis.

Eventually, inhibition of TS will lead to the inhibition of DNA synthesis after depletion of dTMP and subsequently of dTTP. In addition, since the methylation of dUMP to dTMP is blocked, dUMP and dUTP accumulate, and the abundance of the latter coupled



Figure 2.1 Chemical structure and molecular weight of 5-fluorouracil and some of its derivatives used in the clinics

with a deficiency in dTTP lead to the incorporation of dUTP into DNA. Imbalance in the pools of deoxyribonucleoside-triphosphates and inhibition of DNA synthesis and repair will result in single- and double-strand DNA breaks. Induction of DNA damage will activate downstream genes and proteins that initiate the processes of cell cycle arrest and cell death (Chabner et al. 2005, Milano et al. 2005).



Figure 2.2. Possible metabolic pathways of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), capecitabine and trifluorothymidine (TFT). Bold names are investigational or currently used drugs. Italic names are inactive metabolites. Underlined names are physiological substances. Intermediary substances are shown in rectangles and important enzymes in octagons. Explanations of abbreviations can be found in the "List of abbreviations". FdUMP and TF-TMP block the activity of TS (for details see the text).

Although inhibition of TS is considered the most important mechanism of the cytotoxicity of 5-FU, after conversion to FUTP and FdUTP, 5-FU can also be incorporated

into RNA (Peters et al. 1995) and DNA (Lönn & Lönn 1988), respectively. Incorporation of FUTP into RNA influences the normal RNA processing and function, and significant correlations were shown between 5-FU misincorporation into RNA and loss of clonogenic potential in human colon and breast cancer cell lines (Kufe & Major 1981 and Glazer & Lloyd 1982). Misincorporated 5-FU may influence the RNA functions at several levels, e.g. inhibition the processing of pre-rRNA to mature rRNA (Kanamaru et al. 1986 and Ghoshal & Jacob 1994) and disruption of the post-transcriptional modification of tRNAs (Santi & Hardy 1987 and Randerath et al. 1983). An indirect evidence for the importance of 5-FU incorporation into RNA is the fact that uridine reduced the incorporation of 5-FU to RNA and this was associated with the reduction of the side-effects of 5-FU (Peters et al. 1988).

Obviously, the above effects are expected to occur primarily in cells which grow faster and take up fluorouracil more rapidly.

# 2.2 Biochemical modulation of fluoropyrimidine activity

Although a host of compounds has been suggested to improve the clinical effects of 5-FU and oral fluoropyrimidines (Weckbecker 1991, Labianca et al. 1996, Connolly and Duley 1999, Grem 2000, Chabner et al. 2001, Longley et al. 2003, Milano et al. 2004), our discussion here is confined to those with direct relevance to the topic of this Thesis.

#### 2.2.1 Leucovorin

Probably the most intensively studied and currently widely used biochemical modulator of 5-FU is leucovorin (LV, 5'-formyltetrahydrofolate).

LV enhances the inhibitory effect of 5-FU (more precisely of 5FdUMP, the active metabolite of 5-FU) on TS, which is the key enzyme in the de novo synthesis of thymidine and probably the most important target of 5-FU in tumor cells (see above). LV is transported through the cell membrane by the reduced folate carrier and metabolized to CH<sub>2</sub>-THF, the increased intracellular concentration of which results in stabilization of the ternary complex formed by CH<sub>2</sub>-THF, TS and FdUMP; this is the generally accepted molecular mechanism of the above effect of LV. Although intermediates of the metabolic pathway of LV to CH<sub>2</sub>-THF can also support the formation of the ternary complex, CH<sub>2</sub>-THF is the most active substrate (van der Wilt et al. 1993). Additionally, polyglutamates of CH<sub>2</sub>-THF, which are

formed by the action of folylpolyglutamate synthase (FPGS), will also enhance the inhibition of TS. According to *in vivo* studies (van der Wilt et al. 1992), the potentiation of the antitumor activity of 5-FU by LV given before 5-FU was associated with prevention of "rebound" TS induction occurring after 2-3 weeks of a dose of 5-FU alone (van Laar et al. 1996, Codacci-Pisanelli et al. 1995) and with a more pronounced inhibition of TS.

The clinical evaluation and validation of leucovorin (LV) in the early 1980s demonstrated that in **advanced colorectal cancer** it can improve the response rate to 5-FU from approximately 10% to 30%. A meta-analysis involving 1381 advanced colorectal cancer patients confirmed an increased response rate with 5-FU/LV (23%) compared to that of 5-FU alone (11%) (Anonymous 1992). However, there was no significant improvement in overall survival, and the treatment was associated with significant toxicities (especially mucositis, diarrhea and leucopenia). In the **adjuvant therapy** of Dukes B2 and C stage colorectal cancer LV+5-FU combination improved the event-free and overall survival (Zaniboni et al. 1998). Combination of LV+5-FU with other anticancer drugs can further improve the clinical results. This was demonstrated in a randomized clinical trial involving 2246 patients who had undergone curative resection for stage II or III colon cancer: the rate of disease-free survival at three years was significantly better in the LV+5-FU plus oxaliplatin group then in the LV+5-FU only group (78.2% and 72.9%, respectively; Andre et al. 2004).

#### 2.2.2 Uridine and its prodrugs

The incorporation of FUTP into RNA is supposed to be a major cause of the toxic effects of 5-FU to normal tissues such as bone marrow or gastrointestinal epithelium, whereas inhibition of TS may mainly be responsible for killing tumor cells. This difference is corroborated by the clinical success of the combination of 5-FU with LV as described above. Another potential way of improving the selectivity of 5-FU would be to counteract its effects on RNA-synthesis with the aim of providing selective protection to normal cells without compromising the antitumor effects. Such a protection, or rescue of normal cells may enable us to increase the dose of 5-FU and improve the clinical results. Although preclinical experiments and clinical trials with uridine have supported the validity of this concept, it has not yet reached wide-spread clinical use.

The above concept was supported by **preclinical studies** in which administration of uridine after 5-FU reduced the FUTP incorporation into RNA, but did not affect the 5-FU-induced TS inhibition in cell culture (Peters, 1988) and in murine tumors (Nord, 1992). Furthermore, uridine-rescue improved the effect of LV+5-FU combination *in vivo* in the relatively 5-FU resistant murine colon cancer cell line Colon 26 (Nadal, 1989).

As damage to hematopoiesis was known to be a major factor limiting the dose of 5-FU (Lohrmann and Schreml, 1982), the question arose how the myelotoxicity of 5-FU was modified by uridine. Peters et al. (1988) reported that 5-FU-induced leukocytopenia and reduction in hematocrit were both mitigated by uridine. As for the mechanism of this protection at the level of cell-populations, it was shown by our group that (i) the 5-FU-induced damage to the population of granulocyte-macrophage progenitors in murine bone marrow (identified by their ability to form colonies in soft gel cultures, GM-CFU or CFUc) was mitigated by uridine-rescue, and (ii) pretreatment with LV did not abolish this beneficial effect (Kovács et al. 1992a). In these studies, CFUc were estimated only two and four days after the administration of 5-FU, when the effects of treatment on the CFUc-population could be clearly demonstrated. However, longitudinal studies were required to reach the nadir of neutropenia, as well as to follow the full course of the regeneration of the bone marrow and ANC. The author of this Thesis joined the group when the studies were being extended to follow the process of damage and regeneration, as the function of time, for 20 days after the administration of 5-FU.

Uridine concentrations in human plasma, bone marrow and cerebrospinal fluid range approximately from 3 to 8  $\mu$ M and similar values were reported in rat and mouse plasma (Connolly and Duley 1999). Unfortunately, the high *in vivo* dose of uridine (>3000 mg/kg), necessary to reach and sustain the high plasma concentration of uridine (~75  $\mu$ M) required to protect normal cells, was associated with unwanted effects: fever was observed in rabbits (Cradock et al. 1986, Peters et al. 1987a) while in mice high dose uridine caused hypothermia (Peters et al. 1987b).

**Clinical trials** using **parenteral uridine rescue** showed that unwanted effects (e.g. phlebitis, pyrogenic reactions) of large doses of uridine (which were required for effective rescue) limited the usefulness of this modulation therapy in humans (Leyva et al. 1984, van Groeningen et al. 1986, 1992). In a phase I clinical trial, **oral uridine** administration allowed for dose-intensification of 5-FU in a modified 5-FU-doxorubicin-methotrexate regimen (Schwartz et al. 1996). However, the use of oral uridine in patients is also limited by its poor

oral bioavailability, short plasma elimination half-life and the severe diarrhea occurring after the required large amounts of oral uridine.

To avoid the toxicity of uridine, PN-401 (an oral prodrug of uridine), uridine diphosphoglucose (UDPG) or, more recently, inhibitors of uridine catabolism (Al Safarjalani et al. 2005 and 2006) have been used in preclinical and/or clinical studies with similar results to uridine but with a better safety profile.

**PN401**<sup>1</sup> is an orally active, lipophilic, acetylated prodrug of uridine, which is efficiently absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and deacetylated by nonspecific esterase, yielding uridine and free acetate. It had superior uridine bioavailability compared to oral uridine tablets in a phase I clinical trial in combination with 5-FU (Kelsen et al. 1997). In the same study, PN401 was well tolerated and almost completely blocked the non-hematologic toxicities when given 24 hours following the administration of 5-FU. In another phase I clinical trial, PN401 allowed the safe administration of 5-FU on a weekly schedule in the dosing range of 1000 to 1250 mg/m<sup>2</sup>/week, which is at least two-fold higher than the maximum tolerated dose of 5-FU without biochemical modulation (Hidalgo et al. 2000). PN401 was also well tolerated in this study, the qualitative and temporal nature of the toxicities of the 5-FU-PN401 regimen suggested that PN401 itself did not induce clinically significant toxicity. The principal dose limiting toxicity of the 5-FU-PN401 combination was severe neutropenia while non-hematologic effects were uncommon even with high doses of 5-FU. Unfortunately, no data were reported on the antitumor activity of the 5-FU-PN401 regimen and there was no unequivocal conclusion regarding the optimal timing of PN401 or uridine treatment relative to administration of 5-FU to protect normal tissues maximally without protecting malignant tissues (Hidalgo et al. 2000).

**UDPG** is a physiological substance normally used in biochemical reactions as a donor of phosphorylated sugars or as a precursor of glucuronic acid; it can also be converted to uridine. From the point of view of its potential clinical use instead of uridine, UDPG is particularly attractive because it is an approved drug available in some countries (e.g. Toxepasi<sup>TM</sup> in Italy) as an intravenous formulation for the treatment of various liver diseases (e.g. chronic hepatitis, viral hepatitis, cirrhosis).

It was shown that intravenous bolus injection of UDPG in tumor bearing mice resulted in an increase of uridine nucleotide content in liver, but not in tumor tissue (Colofiore et al. 1989). These results suggested the possibility of selectivity of UDPG in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 2',3',5'-tri-O-acetyluridine

protecting normal tissues. Later Codacci-Pisanelli et al. investigated the modulatory effect of UDPG on 5-FU in mice. Delayed UDPG rescue reduced the systemic and hematological toxicity of 5-FU while did not affect 5-FU's antitumor activity. The hematological toxicity in these experiments was determined by the measurement of the white blood cell count, the platelet count and the hematocrit but neither granulocyte numbers nor any effects at the myeloid progenitor cell level were investigated (Codacci-Pisanelli et al. 1997).

Contrary to the experiences with uridine, no evidence of alterations of body temperature was observed in mice treated with UDPG (Codacci-Pisanelli et al. 1997), suggesting a better safety profile for UDPG in comparison to uridine. In a pilot pharmacokinetic study in oncological patients, administration of 2 g UDPG by a 30 min infusion resulted in substantial increase in plasma uridine levels, which was comparable to what uridine caused. In contrast with the experiences with the infusion of uridine, no adverse effects were reported (Tognella 1992).

#### 2.2.3 Ethyl-deoxyuridine

5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EDU) had originally been designed as a potential antiviral agent (Szabolcs et al. 1975; Prusoff and Ward 1976; Gauri 1981) but later its ability to inhibit the *in vitro* proliferation of L5178Y and L-1210 leukemic cells as well as Ehrlich ascites tumor cells was also discovered. Earlier studies suggested that the mechanism of action was the phosphorylation of EDU to its monophosphate form, which subsequently inhibited thymidylate synthase (TS) or was incorporated into DNA. *In vivo*, however, Ehrlich ascites tumor failed to respond to EDU. This discrepancy is probably due to the fast elimination of EDU by catabolism to ethyluracil, a reaction mediated by pyrimidine nucleoside phosphorylases in the liver and gut. In this reaction, EDU competes with the catabolism of thymidine, which results in increased thymidine level, which, in turn, reduces the consequences of the EDU-caused blockade of TS and prevents cytotoxicity (Jeney et al. 1986).

Although the lack of *in vivo* cytotoxicity prevented the development of EDU as an antitumor agent, the potent DPD-inhibitory effect of ethyluracil, its metabolite, made EDU an attractive compound to be used for the modulation of the action of 5-FU. In fact, EDU potentiated the antitumor effect of 5-FU against human colorectal cancer xenografts (Kopper et al. 1984, Kralovanszky et al. 1999) and increased the cytotoxic effect of 5-FU *in vitro* on

COLO-1 and SW620 human colon cancer cell lines (Katona et al. 1999, Katona et al. 2004). EDU enhanced the antitumor action of 5-FU most effectively when it was given 0.5-1 hour before the administration of 5-FU, but its application simultaneously with or following 5-FU resulted in a less effective potentiation of the tumor growth inhibition. EDU-pretreatment increased the therapeutic index of 5-FU (Kralovanszky et al. 1999) and this increased antitumor effect was associated with (i) increased intratumoral FdUMP, which, in turn, enhanced the inhibition of TS, (ii) inhibition of 5-FU-catabolism through the inhibition of DPD, probably by ethyluracil, one of EDU's metabolites, and (iii) prolonged cytotoxic plasma levels of 5-FU. Additionally, the measured uridine concentrations after EDU were high enough (more than 50  $\mu$ M for longer than 6 hours) to provide a supposedly selective uridine rescue of normal cells as discussed in the previous section. Kralovánszky et al. (1999) reported that the potentiation of 5-FU's antitumor action was accompanied by some signs of toxicity, including a loss of body weight, but they did not study any possible effects of EDU and its combination with 5-FU on the hematopoietic system.

#### 2.3 New oral fluoropyrimidine prodrugs

In an attempt to improve the oral bioavailability of 5-FU, a number of fluoropyrimidine prodrugs have been synthesized since the 1960s. In the 1970s two prodrugs of fluorouracil, 5-fluoro-1-(tetrahydro-2-furyl)-uracil (tegafur, Ftorafur<sup>TM</sup>) and doxifluridine (5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine, 5'-DFUR, Furtulon<sup>TM</sup>; Fig. 2.1) were introduced into the clinic in some countries. While the advantage of these drugs was that they could be administered orally, producing a slow release of 5-FU, there were a number of disturbing toxic effects including gastrointestinal and central nervous system toxicities. More recently, new oral fluoropyrimidines and combinations of oral fluoropyrimidines and orally available inhibitors of DPD (the rate limiting enzyme of the catabolism of 5-FU) have been investigated in clinical trials (Rooseboom et al. 2004). Two of these, tegafur+uracil (UFT) and capecitabine have been accepted for clinical use in numerous countries.

#### 2.3.1 UFT

UFT is a combination of tegafur and uracil in 1:4 molar ratio. The development of UFT addressed two mechanisms at once: (i) Although the CYP450 system in the liver is mainly

responsible for the conversion of **tegafur** to 5-FU, TP also contributes to this activating process. As the activity of TP is higher in some tumors than in the corresponding normal tissues, this was supposed to confer some degree of selectivity. (ii) Uracil is a competitive inhibitor of DPD, the rate limiting enzyme of 5-FU catabolism responsible for approximately 85% of 5-FU degradation. Both agents have excellent bioavailability following oral administration. The optimal 1:4 molar ratio of tegafur:uracil was determined in preclinical studies. The combination produced substantially higher plasma and tissue levels of 5-FU than tegafur alone and increasing the proportion of uracil further increased the 5-FU concentrations but also resulted in increased toxicity. It is important to note that following UFT administration the increase in the concentration of 5-FU was higher in the tumors than in the surrounding normal tissues. This was attributed to the fact that tumors have higher levels of TP and lower levels of DPD than normal tissues. Higher TP level results in increased local activation of tegafur while lower DPD level means almost complete block of local elimination by uracil. Thus, tegafur and uracil administered in combination have resulted in lowering the tegafur dosage and therefore toxicity, while at the same time maintaining the antitumor efficacy (Blijham 2003 and Rustum 1997).

Originally UFT was developed for use as a single agent; however, recently the clinical development has been focused on the combination of UFT/LV. This is due to the facts that: (i) the positive biomodulatory effect of LV was confirmed in experimental models where UFT/LV was compared to UFT alone and (ii) the availability of LV as an oral form which made possible an oral regimen of UFT/LV. Based on the results of two Phase III clinical trials (Carmichael et al. 2002 and Douillard et al. 2002) it was concluded that the response rate, the median time to progression and the median survival were similar in the UFT/LV and 5-FU/LV groups, however, the safety profile was significantly better with UFT than with 5-FU. The oral UFT/LV treatment had the additional advantage that, as expected, the majority of patients preferred the oral formulations.

#### 2.3.2 Capecitabine

As mentioned above, the development of capecitabine<sup>2</sup> (Fig. 2.1.), an oral "pre-prodrug" of 5-FU, was based on studies with a prodrug of 5-FU, namely with 5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> (pentyl 1-(5-deoxy-beta-D-ribofuranosyl)-5- fluoro-1,2-dihydro-2-oxo-4-pyrimidinecarbamate, Xeloda®)

(5'-DFUR, doxifluridine, Furtulon<sup>TM</sup>). 5'-DFUR is metabolized to the active form, i.e. to 5-FU by thymidine phosphorylase (TP) preferentially located in tumors (Takebayashi et al. 1996). From doxifluridine, however, some 5-FU is liberated already in the gut and this leads to intestinal toxicity after high oral doses of this drug.

Capecitabine was designed to overcome this problem by the production of a prodrug of doxifluridine, which is not significantly converted to 5-FU in the gut. Capecitabine is converted to 5'-DFUR, through non-cytotoxic intermediates, by two subsequently acting enzymes: (i) carboxylesterase which is not present in the gut but located in the liver, and (ii) by cytidine deaminase which can be found primarily in the liver but also in many solid tumors (Fig. 2.3.). Consequently, it can be safely given at higher doses without serious intestinal toxicity (Miwa et al. 1998). Compared to 5-FU, capecitabine generated much higher levels of 5-FU in tumors and showed improved antitumor effects. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved capecitabine in the first line treatment of metastatic colorectal carcinoma and as a monotherapy in metastatic breast cancer resistant to both paclitaxel and anthracycline-containing chemotherapy regimens, or as a combination therapy with docetaxel in the treatment of patients with metastatic breast cancer after failure of prior anthracycline-containing chemotherapy.

#### 2.3.3 S-1

S-1 is a triple combination consisting of the prodrug tegafur, 5-chloro-2,4-dihydroxypyridine (CDHP) and potassium oxonate in a molar ratio of 1:0.4:1, respectively. CDHP is a potent reversible inhibitor of DPD and significantly potentiated the antitumor effect of tegafur in preclinical models and provided sustained fluorouracil levels (Shirasaka et al. 1996b). Potassium oxonate is an inhibitor of orotate phosphoribosyl transferase that catalyzes the conversion of 5-FU to FUMP. It has been shown in preclinical studies to inhibit this activating process mainly in the gastrointestinal tract but not in tumors, and to reduce the injury of gastrointestinal tissues and/or severe diarrhea without influencing the antitumor effect (Shirasaka et al. 1993). In a preclinical study, the antitumor activity of S-1 was superior to that of UFT (Shirasaka et al. 1996a). In several phase II clinical trials, the antitumor effect of S-1 was at least equivalent to that of continuous or IV bolus 5-FU, or of the other oral fluoropyrimidines (Schoffski 2004).



**Figure 2.3.** Conversion of capecitabine to 5-FU. Carboxylesterase is not present in the gut but located in the liver, cytidine deaminase can be found primarily in the liver but also in many solid tumors and thymidine phosphorylase level/activity increased in many solid tumors.

#### 2.3.4 TAS-102

TAS-102 is a new, orally available antimetabolite agent composed of  $\alpha$ , $\alpha$ , $\alpha$ -trifluorothymidine (TFT) and a thymidine phosphorylase inhibitor (5-chloro-6-(2-iminopyrrolidine-1-yl)methyl-2,4(1H,3H)-pyrimidinedione hydrochloride; TPI) in 2:1 molar ratio. The combination is in early phase of clinical investigation but it was shown in preclinical studies that it exhibits good antitumor activity against 5-FU resistant human cancer cells (Emura et al. 2004a, Emura et al. 2004b, Emura et al. 2005). TFT is a thymidine analog which exerts its antitumor and antiviral activity through inhibition of thymidylate synthase and incorporation into DNA (Fig. 2.2). However, TFT is rapidly hydrolyzed to

inactive trifluorothymine by TP and/or UP and its half life is approximately 12-18 minutes when used alone. The combined use of TPI reduced this inactivation and increased the bioavailability (de Bruin et al. 2003). As TP was shown to be identical to platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor (PD-ECGF), TAS-102 can be expected to have not only cytotoxic anti-tumor effects but also antiangiogenesis activity and may inhibit, e.g., liver metastasis development in colorectal cancer.

# 2.4 Individualized cancer chemotherapy by biomarker measurements in tumors

#### 2.4.1 Tumor specific metabolism of fluoropyrimidine prodrugs

For many drugs the most important site of metabolism is the liver. However, in the case of prodrugs developed for cancer chemotherapy, one of the goals was to increase the selectivity by producing agents which are metabolized to their active forms selectively in the tumor tissue, thus preventing or at least reducing the systemic toxicity to normal cells/tissues (Rooseboom et al. 2004). Even 5-FU can be viewed as such a prodrug as it requires intracellular transformations to its active metabolites to exert its effects (for details see above). However, the selectivity of 5-FU metabolism in tumor cells is based only on the faster growth of the tumor cell population as compared to most normal cells and, not surprisingly, the major adverse effects damage the fastest growing normal cell populations such as the myelopoietic system and the epithelial lining of the gastrointestinal tract. The better tumor selectivity of the prodrugs doxifluridine and capecitabine is probably due to the fact that the level of TP, which catalyzes their activation, is higher in many tumors compared to normal tissues (Takebayashi et al. 1996, Mori et al. 2000).

#### 2.4.2 Biomarkers may predict the efficacy of fluoropyrimidines

Three enzymes have been intensively studied as possible biomarkers for the prediction of the sensitivity of tumors to various fluoropyrimidines. Two of these, namely TP and DPD, mediate metabolic transformations of the drug molecules whereas the third one, TS, is the main target of fluoropyrimidines. The expression of these enzymes may be independent variables, at least this was observed in a set of colorectal tumors by Salonga et al. (2000).

#### 2.4.2.1 Thymidine phosphorylase (TP)

**Doxifluridine and capecitabine**, as mentioned above, are prodrugs requiring activation by TP, so the intratumoral level of this enzyme was expected to play a pivotal role in the clinical efficiency of these drugs. Indeed, some clinical data support the usefulness of the estimation of this enzyme in a variety of surgically removed tumors to predict the response to postoperative doxifluridine or capecitabine (Koizumi et al. 1999, Sadahiro et al. 2001, Tominaga et al. 2002, Takiguchi et al. 2003, Noguchi et al. 2003, Grem 2005, Toi et al. 2005). Furthermore, the difference between normal and tumor tissues with respect to TP levels/activities suggests that the tumor-selectivity of these drugs, a main determinant of therapeutic success, can be predicted individually by comparing the TP-levels in normal and malignant tissues (Miwa et al. 1998, Mori et al. 2000).

As regards **5-FU**, TP mediates only the first step of one of the three known pathways of the activation. TP catalyses the reversible phosphorolysis of thymidine to thymine and 2-deoxy-D-ribose-1-phosphate (dR-1-P) (de Bruin et al. 2003). The conversion of 5-FU to FUdR follows the opposite direction and, therefore, requires dR-1-P as a cofactor. Although FUdR can be phosphorylated in a single step to FdUMP, the main active metabolite of 5-FU, this pathway seems to play only a minor role in comparison with the two other activation mechanisms of 5-FU, probably because of the low level of dR-1-P (Weckbecker 1991). So it is not surprising that a major role of TP in the sensitivity of tumors to 5-FU, contrary to doxifluridine and capecitabine, has not been unequivocally established. Actually, the role of intratumoral TP-levels in determining the sensitivity of tumors to 5-FU is controversial, as shown by the conflicting results of studies addressing this question (Schwartz et al. 1995, Fox et al. 1997, Metzger et al. 1998, Ishii et al. 2001, Marchetti et al. 2001, Yang et al. 2002, de Bruin et al. 2003, Hirano et al. 2002, Hirano et al. 2003, Toi et al. 2005). Other factors contributing to the conflicting nature of these results may include the following.

- (i) There are species differences in the substrate-specificity of uridine phosphorylase
   (UP). Murine UP, unlike the corresponding human enzyme, cleaves thymidine
   (Haraguchi et al. 2002) and can be supposed to contribute to the conversion of 5-FU to FUdR in this species.
- (ii) TP and the originally independently described *platelet-derived endothelial cell* growth factor (PD-ECGF) are now considered identical. TP, by means of its PD-ECGF-activity, promotes angiogenesis and may accelerate the growth of tumors

be variable (Ciccolini et al. 2004). This variability may be due, in addition to the origin and histologic type of the primary tumor, also to the stage of the disease in which 5-FU is used.

(iii) Sensitivity of various malignant cells (both cell lines and primary cultures of surgically removed human tumors) is often estimated *in vitro* under experimental conditions not permitting angiogenesis to occur and, therefore any angiogenic activity of TP fails to contribute to the results.

Realization of the contradictory effects of high levels of TP on the sensitivity of tumors to 5-FU may help to counteract the angiogenic effects associated with TP by at least two methods. The first of these would be the application of inhibitors of angiogenesis, one of which, namely the anti-VEGF drug bevacizumab, has recently been approved by the FDA for clinical use. Another possibility is to use more specific inhibitors of the angiogenic effect of TP. Although currently no specific TP inhibitor drug is available in the clinics, several such drugs have already been tested clinically or preclinically. A potential candidate is TAS-102 described in Chapter 2.3.4. For 5-FU prodrugs, such as doxifluridine and tegafur, the inhibition of TP is not desirable as it would also decrease the activation of these agents. 2-deoxy-D-ribose is supposed to be a downstream mediator of the angiogenic effects of TP and the inhibition of its effects would be a preferable target in the case of these prodrugs. In fact, 2-deoxy-L-ribose (the stereoisomer of 2-deoxy-D-ribose) reportedly prevented various effects of 2-deoxy-D-ribose and is under detailed investigations (Akiyama et al. 2004, Nakajima et al. 2004, Toi et al. 2005).

#### 2.4.2.2 Dihydropyrimidine-dehydrogenase (DPD)

High expression of DPD in tumor tissue was reported to result in poor response to 5-FU (Beck et al. 1994, Ishikawa et al. 1999, Nita et al. 1998).

As regards the fluoropyrimidines whose activation requires TP, Ishikawa et al. found that the capecitabine sensitivity of human xenograft tumors in mice correlated much better with the ratio of TP/DPD than either TP or DPD alone (Ishikawa et al. 1998). This finding later was supported by other investigators in clinical studies. Terashima et al. showed that, in

gastric cancer patients, a high TP/DPD ratio was associated with significantly better survival rates after adjuvant doxifluridine administration (Terashima et al. 2002). Furthermore, in a recent study the TP/DPD ratio in tumor tissues was a good predictor of tumor response to doxifluridine-based chemotherapy in metastatic gastric cancer (Nishina et al. 2004).

In addition to the role played by DPD in the determination of the response of tumors to fluoropyrimidines, DPD-levels may also profoundly influence the toxicity of these drugs. As the main way of elimination of 5-FU is mediated by DPD, an inherited deficiency of this enzyme leads to increased sensitivity to the drug and the rare person who totally lacks DPD may experience profound toxicity after conventional doses of 5-FU. DPD deficiency can be detected either by enzymatic or molecular assays using peripheral white blood cells or by determining the plasma ratio of 5-FU to its metabolite 5-6-dihydrofluorouracil (Chabner et al. 2001, Ezzeldin and Diasio, 2004).

#### 2.4.2.3 Thymidylate synthase (TS)

Thymidylate synthase (TS) activity and protein and gene expression in human colorectal cancer has been investigated by several authors as a predictor of response for These studies have suggested that high TS fluoropyrimidine based chemotherapies. expression in advanced colorectal cancers, determined by several methods (immunohistochemical staining, enzyme activity, and reverse transcription PCR), is followed by non-response to 5-FU and poor prognosis (Johnston et al. 1995, Aschele et al. 1999, Cascinu et al. 1999, Davies et al. 1999, Kralovanszky et al. 2002). It seems clear that high TS levels in the metastases of patients with advanced disease predict non-responsiveness to 5-FU, but it is far less certain that TS levels measured in local or locally advanced primary colorectal cancer predict clinical benefit resulting from 5-FU–based adjuvant treatment. This may be explained in part by the finding from several reports suggesting that TS expression levels measured in primary colorectal cancer may not be an accurate reflection of TS levels in metastatic or micrometastatic deposits, which represent the mechanism of relapse in patients with local and locally advanced disease (Aschele et al. 2000, Findlay et al. 1997). Conflicting data were published recently about the correlation between TS level and the outcome of adjuvant 5-FU based chemotherapy. Edler et al. (2002) observed that those patients whose tumors expressed the highest TS had a significantly longer disease-free survival if they were treated with adjuvant 5-FU based therapy compared with surgery alone, whereas patients whose tumors expressed low TS levels had an impaired outcome after adjuvant therapy. However, other studies described either beneficial effect of 5-FU based adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with low intratumoral TS levels (Iacopetta et al. 2001) or no clear correlation was described between TS levels and response to adjuvant chemotherapy to discern groups of individuals who would be predicted to derive greater or lesser benefit from the use of adjuvant chemotherapy (Allegra et al. 2003).

These observations also underline that while single-marker investigations have been the mainstay of molecular diagnostics and proved to be useful in some cases, the development and introduction of technologies allowing parallel determination of multiple markers might help in more clearly defining individuals who are most likely to benefit from specific therapeutic interventions (Danesi et al. 2001).

#### 2.4.3 Laser-scanning cytometry (LSC) for biomarker determinations

To determine the activities/levels of enzymes of interest, the most direct approach is biochemical measurement of enzyme activities, but this requires fairly large samples of fresh or freshly frozen tissue and cannot take into account the proportion of normal tissue in a tumor sample. At least three indirect assays have been developed to estimate the levels of these proteins in tumor and normal tissues: (i) immunohistochemical (IHC) assays for examining expression of the enzymes; (ii) quantitative PCR assays for measuring mRNA levels; (iii) ELISA assays, also for measuring protein levels. While measurements of the enzyme activity, as well as quantitative PCR and ELISA assays provide objective and quantitative results, they do not provide information about the regional or cellular localization of the molecules and they usually require fresh or frozen tissues or cells. The IHC assay can be done with paraffin embedded and fixed tumor tissues and gives information about the localization of the antigens but it is a subjective assay depending on the judgment of the person reading the slides and is, at best, only semi-quantitative. Additionally, the parallel measurement of two or more enzymes/antigens is practically not possible with these methods.

#### 2.4.3.1 Laser-scanning cytometry

Flow cytometry has made possible the analysis of large populations of cells by rapid measurements, allowing the detection of rare cells and distinguish subpopulations of cells according to their different characteristics. Also attractive is the possibility of

multiparametric analysis and cell sorting. Flow cytometry with cell sorting is now indispensable e.g. in immunology, molecular and cell biology and cytogenetics, however, it has some limitations which restrict its usefulness in certain applications.

These limitations include: (i) individual cells are measured only once which means that it is not possible to analyze time-resolved events on the same cells, e.g. to measure enzyme kinetics; (ii) although in theory, sorting and examining of the morphology of single cells is possible, it is cumbersome and rarely used; (iii) flow cytometry cannot provide information on the spatial distribution of fluorochromes within the cell, e.g. nuclear vs. cytoplasmic localization, uniformity of distribution, co-localization with another fluorochrome etc.; (iv) it is impossible to re-stain the already measured cells with another probe and merge the results on a cell by cell basis; (v) solid tissues can be analyzed only after dissociation of cells and the isolation procedure produces a plethora of undesirable effects. Additionally, the information on tissue topography is lost (e.g. relationship of tumor cells to normal stromal or infiltrating cells, blood vessels, presence of localized inhomogeneities of tumor (or normal) cells which otherwise seem to be homogenous; (vi) because of the significant cell loss occurring during the sample preparation, analysis of samples containing only a small number of cells (e.g. fine needle aspirate or cerebrospinal fluid) in practice is very error prone, consequently these small size samples are seldom analyzed by flow cytometry (Darzynkiewicz et al. 1999).

Laser-scanning cytometry integrates the capabilities of flow cytometry with optical microscopy and offers many of the advantages of flow cytometry while eliminates most of the limitations listed above. A prototype laser-scanning cytometer was first described in 1991 (Kamentsky & Kamentsky, 1991) and a refined model entered commercial production in 1996. During the last decade, numerous reports and reviews have been published describing the capabilities of the LSC and its various applications. For the details of the instrument itself, its concept and analytical capabilities the reader is referred to the numerous excellent reviews (Kamentsky et al. 1997, Darzynkiewicz et al. 1999, Kamentsky 2001, Tarnok and Gerstner, 2002). It should be noted that, because of similarity in name, the laser-scanning microscope, a confocal microscope illuminated by a scanning laser beam, and other instruments having a scanning laser as an illumination source are sometimes confused with the LSC.

The most characteristic feature of laser-scanning cytometry distinguishing it from flow cytometry is that cell analysis is done on a slide. This offers the possibility of visual

examination to assess morphology and correlate it with the measured parameters. It provides the same possibility for multiparametric analysis as flow cytometry and, in addition, more than one cytofluorometric analysis can be done on the same cells using different sets of markers. The results of the sequential measurements can then be integrated using the merge capability of the instrument's software. Re-staining and reanalysis of cells is possible not only with a new set of fluorescent markers but also with conventional stains used in pathology and the results of the fluorescent measurements can be easily compared with the morphological picture because the position of each detected object is recorded by the instrument and later can be relocated. As not only the position of detected cells (objects) is recorded but also the time at the moment of measurement, sequential measurements can be done on the same cells providing information about the kinetics of a process at the level of individual cells. Right angle (side) light scatter, common to flow cytometry, cannot be measured by LSC but individual pixel fluorescence intensities are measured which is not possible with a flow cytometer. This parameter reflects the inhomogeneity of fluorescence distribution within the analyzed cell/object and allows e.g. the characterization of cells with respect to the maximum pixel intensity (generally called the "max pixel value") which represents the maximal fluorochrome concentration per area imaged on a single pixel. This proved to be especially useful in cell cycle analysis as the maximal pixel DNA-associated fluorescence correlates well with chromatin condensation (Luther and Kamentsky 1997, Kawasaki et al. 1997).

#### 2.4.3.2 *Tissue investigations with laser-scanning cytometry*

The LSC has the capability to perform cytometric analyses of tissue sections with multiple colors. This will add valuable information to routine histopathology because it combines both objective quantification of cell subtypes with distinct characteristics and analysis of their spatial distribution within a tissue section. Manual histopathology allows only qualitative and subjective interpretations. Standardized analysis of sections could be a major application of LSC, but this potential has not been exploited yet. Only a few publications are available on tissue section analysis by LSC.

The first studies were performed on human breast cancer tissue sections for the quantification of estrogen receptors and Ki-67 expression (Gorczyca et al. 1998, Gorczyca et al. 2001, Hendricks 2001). Grace et al. analyzed tumor xenografts in mice for viral vector effectiveness in gene therapy by detection of induced apoptosis (Grace et al. 1999). Mackler

et al. investigated the activation and distribution of macrophages in tissue sections from murine uterus (Mackler et al. 2000). Immunophenotyping of leukocytes in tissue sections requires multicolor analysis to define and quantify leukocyte subsets. Three-color immunophenotyping of tissues has been performed with confocal laser-scanning microscopy (Steiner et al. 2000) and the LSC recently was applied to immunophenotype lymphatic tissue (Gerstner et al. 2004). Virtually all of the above mentioned studies used normal contouring for the detection of cells which is based on triggering on nuclear DNA staining (propidium iodide in all cases). This approach seems to be reasonable in thin tissue sections of  $<10 \,\mu m$ thickness if the majority of nuclei are separated and they can be detected as single objects. However, e.g. in various malignant tumors and in lymph nodes or tonsils, the cell density could be high and the detection of individual cells becomes difficult or impossible. Gerstner et al. (2004) recently developed a method named "multiple thresholding" to overcome the limitations of high cell density in sections of lymph nodes. They scanned propidium iodide stained sections repeatedly with step-wise increases in the threshold level of the triggering parameter (i.e. propidium iodide fluorescence in this case). Depending on the applied threshold levels, different cells in different microanatomical regions could be detected during each scan. The acquired data files then were merged, and objects triggered at the same x-ycoordinates were condensed to a single object (Gerstner et al. 2004). Although this approach seems to be applicable to detect virtually all cells of a section even in case of high cell density, it is time consuming when larger specimens are measured.

## 2.5 Colony stimulating factors in cancer chemotherapy

The above approaches to improve the therapeutic benefits of fluoropyrimidines are specific for this group of anticancer drugs. As damage to bone marrow is a major dose-limiting factor not only for fluoropyrimidines but also for the majority of other anticancer agents, any drugs protecting the hematopoietic tissues from cytotoxic insults or promoting their restitution from damage may find a much broader application in the therapy of malignant diseases. The discovery of colony-stimulating factors seems to be an important step to this goal.

The formation of colonies of hematopoietic cells in soft gel *in vitro* cultures was first described forty years ago (Pluznik and Sachs 1965, Bradley and Metcalf 1966). The cells giving rise to such colonies were shown to constitute a dividing transit population between

pluripotent stem cells and morphologically recognized precursors of granulocytes and macrophages and the term "progenitor cells" was coined to express their intermediate position in hematopoiesis (Metcalf 1977). They are frequently referred to by the operational terms *Colony Forming Unit in culture (CFUc)* or *Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony Forming Unit (GM-CFU)*.

It was postulated that some chemical entities were necessary to stimulate hematopoietic progenitor cells to proliferate and differentiate *in vitro*, hence the name *colony* stimulating factors (CSF). To cut the long and fascinating history of CSFs short, up to now four human CSFs - all of them glycoproteins - were identified, cloned, produced and subjected to intensive studies including clinical trials. The various CSFs received their names after the type of cells in the colonies the growth of which they stimulate in soft gel cultures: the prefixes used are G for granulocytic, M for monocyte-macrophages, GM for a mixture of granulocytic and monocyte-macrophage cells, whereas multi-CSF stimulates the formation of colonies containing all the major myelopoietic lineages; this latter factor was found identical to interleukin-3. The CSFs stimulate the commitment, proliferation and differentiation of progenitor cells and their progeny, possess anti-apoptotic effects and enhance some functions of the mature cells the production of which they promote. In addition to the invaluable contribution of the discovery of CSFs to our understanding of the regulation of the hematopoietic system, two of them (G-CSF and GM-CSF) have been approved for clinical use by the FDA in the United States and are also widely used in other countries, whereas M-CSF is approved for therapeutic use in Japan (Metcalf 1984, Mertelsmann and Herrmann 1994, Morstyn and Dexter 1994).

It is beyond the scope of our work to give a detailed discussion of the clinical indications and benefits of CSFs. It should be noted, however, that one of the main indications of G-CSF is the reduction of the extent and duration of chemotherapy- induced neutropenia, which is still a major limiting factor in the treatment of neoplastic diseases. As expected, both G-CSF and GM-CSF possess such effects, but the former is the preferred agent because of its better safety-profile. It is generally accepted and proved by clinical trials that G-CSF reduces episodes of febrile neutropenia, requirement for broad-spectrum antibiotics, and days of hospitalization (Crawford et al. 1991, Trillet-Lenoir et al. 1993). Unfortunately, to date no clinical trial has shown improved survival in cancer patients treated with any of the colony stimulating factors.

#### 2.6 Green fluorescent protein labeling in cancer research

The formation of metastases is a series of complex interactions between cancerous cells and host cells or tissues. Many points of it are still undefined and characterization of their molecular basis is crucial in the development of new cancer therapies. A major problem in studying the metastatic process is difficulty in visualizing micrometastases, especially in living animals. Currently, mostly histological or immunohistological analyses of target tissues are used to detect metastases. The sensitivity of the current methods are low and other problems with older methods, e.g. expression of Escherichia coli lacZ gene or optical imaging via luciferase reporter, have led to the increasing use of the green fluorescent protein (GFP) as a marker for cancer cells.

Initially isolated from the jellyfish *Aequoria victoria* (Shimomura et al. 1962), the GFP gene was cloned in 1992 by Prasher et al. (Prasher et al. 1992). It is a compact, acid and globular 27-kDa protein, composed of 238 amino acids (Yang et al. 1996), with an excitation peak of 488 nm and an emission peak of 508 nm. Its fluorescent properties are acquired by an autocatalytic mechanism giving rise to the fluorophore, which does not require any biochemical transformation, contrast agent or the use of ionizing radiation in order to be visualized (Cody et al. 1993, Hoffmann 2002). The GFP has been expressed in a variety of cells and organisms: bacteria (Feilmeier et al. 2000), yeasts (Shulga et al. 2000), eukaryotic cell lines (Chalfie et al. 1994, Cheng et al. 1996, Cheng et al. 1997) and transgenic mice (Okabe et al. 1997).

One of the main advantages of GFP labeled tumor cells lies in the possibility of *in vivo* detection of single cancer cells. At present, a wide variety of human tumor cell types, including brain, breast, colon, lung, skin, pancreas, prostate and stomach, can be tracked using the GFP-expression system. The *in vivo* detection of metastatic tumor cells and the quantitative characterization of metastases are very important but it does not allow molecular level resolution. Confocal laser-scanning microscopy has already been used for molecular characterization of the events in metastasis formation (Mook et al. 2003, Jaggi et al. 2005). Similarly, the ability to relocate cells and to quantitatively measure multiple fluorescent markers in samples mounted on slides make laser-scanning cytometry an appealing tool in quantifying the molecular determinants of the metastatic process and homing of tumor cells. Obviously, not only solid tumors can be investigated with this method, but it makes possible the quantitative characterization of the process of homing of GFP-transfected leukemic cells at the molecular level.

# **3** GOALS

Our main goal was to study some possibilities to improve fluoropyrimidine-based cancer chemotherapy. It is described in the previous chapter that, because of the complex intracellular metabolism of 5-FU, the most promising approaches are: (i) increasing the selectivity of 5-FU for tumor cells by using biochemical modulators or (ii) predicting a patient's response to the fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy before the treatment starts, thus eliminating the unnecessary drug therapy in those patients who most probably would not respond to chemotherapy.

Leucovorin is widely used in the clinical practice as a modulator of 5-FU and it is supposed to increase the cytotoxicity of 5-FU predominantly on the tumor cells. Rescue protocols, which primarily decrease the damage to the most sensitive normal cell renewal systems, e.g. to the bone marrow and the gastrointestinal epithelium, have remained investigational. Because of the possibility of improved selectivity of a combination of a rescue protocol with leucovorin modulation, our aim was to study how the effects of LV pretreatment, uridine "rescue" and the combination of these two modulators affected the hematopoiesis in mice, especially the granulocyte-macrophage progenitor cell population. Unfortunately, the clinical use of uridine for this indication does not seem feasible because of its serious side effects. For this reason, prodrugs of uridine with better safety profile are searched for, and we wanted to see whether uridine diphosphoglucose (UDPG, a uridine prodrug commercially available for human use) may serve as an alternative for uridine in our murine model.

Recombinant human colony stimulating factors (e.g. granulocyte colony stimulating factor; filgrastim; G-CSF) are used in the clinical practice to reduce the duration of postchemotherapy neutropenia. However, the effect of G-CSF on the hematopoietic recovery after LV, 5-FU and uridine had not been investigated. We combined these three modulators (LV, uridine, G-CSF) with 5-FU in mice to study their effects on myelopoiesis.

5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EDU) was shown by other investigators to increase the antitumor action of 5-FU. Since this is beneficial only if not accompanied by a similar enhancement of the toxic effects of 5-FU on normal cell renewal systems, we wanted to study the effects of EDU and its combination with 5-FU on the myelopoiesis of mice.

Despite efforts to predict the tumor response of patients to fluoropyrimidine- based chemotherapy considering various pharmacokinetic parameters of patients or biological characteristics of tumors, to date these attempts did not result in a breakthrough in forecasting tumor responses. The currently evolving methods of slide based cytometry might provide a better way for analysis of the relevant parameters by preserving the structure of tissues and allowing quantitative multi-parametric measurements. Our broad aim was to explore the possibilities and limitations of the laser-scanning cytometer (LSC) for studying the level of fluoropyrimidine-metabolizing enzymes in archived paraffin-embedded tissue sections prepared for routine histology. Both preclinical and clinical studies suggested the high importance of the measurement of the ratio of thymidine phosphorylase and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in the determination of the tumor's response to capecitabine therapy. According to these observations, we were particularly interested in the parallel and quantitative measurement of the ratio of these two enzymes in archived paraffin-embedded tissue sections.

In most cases, the metastatic property of malignant tumors is the feature which makes them fatal. Theoretically, a single "appropriate" cell is enough to give rise to a metastasis, and studying the early stages of the formation of metastases requires both the detection and characterization of rare tumor cells in various tissues. The relocalizing and multiparametric analytic capabilities of LSC appear attractive in these investigations and may be particularly useful if coupled with the potential of identifying rare tumor cells labeled appropriately, e.g. by GFP. As GFP-transfected cells and GFP-transgenic animals are promising new tools to study the homing of tumor cells and the subsequent development of metastases, we wanted to investigate the sensitivity of laser-scanning cytometry to detect rare GFP-positive cells in a GFP-negative population. This, coupled with the capacity of LSC to estimate various molecular markers in the identified cancer cells, would facilitate studies on the earliest phase of the formation of metastases.

## **4** MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 4.1 Modulation of the myelotoxicity of 5-fluorouracil in mice

#### 4.1.1 Drugs and treatment schedules

4.1.1.1 Drugs

**Uridine** (U) was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) or from Reanal (Budapest, Hungary), whereas **5-ethyl-2'deoxyuridine** (EDU) was synthesized at the Central Chemical Research Institute of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (Budapest, Hungary).

The following drugs were commercial pharmaceutical preparations:

- **5-fluorouracil (5-FU):** Fluoro-uracil Roche, Hoffmann-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland or Fluorouracil-TEVA, Pharmachemie BV, Haarlem, Netherlands;
- uridine diphosphoglucose (UDPG): Toxepasi, Roche S.p.A, Milan, Italy
- recombinant human Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) filgrastim: Neupogen, Hoffman-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland
- **leucovorin** (LV): Calciumfolinat-Ebewe, Ebewe, Unterach, Austria or Leucovorin-TEVA, Pharmachemie BV, Haarlem, Netherlands

#### 4.1.1.2 Administration of drugs

All drugs were given intraperitoneally in a volume of 10 ml/kg, except U and UDPG, where 20 ml/kg was used because of the unusually high doses needed. Control animals were treated according to the schedule of the drug-treated animals but only with the solvent of the drugs.

#### 4.1.1.3 Doses

5-FU, 100 mg/kg in a single-dose, or 5x20 mg/kg; LV, 100 mg/kg; U, 2x3500 mg/kg; UDPG 2x2000 mg/kg; filgrastim (G-CSF), 100 μg/kg daily; EDU, 200 or 400 mg/kg.

#### 4.1.1.4 Dose schedules

The effects of 5-FU were studied after various combinations of LV, U, UDPG, G-CSF or EDU. In all experiments, the moment of the administration of 5-FU (or, if given repeatedly, that of the last dose of 5-FU) was considered as time zero and all dose-schedules and the results are presented on this time-scale.

#### a.) LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF

LV was given one hour before (at -1h) and U 2 and 20 hours after 5-FU, whereas G-CSF was applied every 24 hours after 5-FU.

#### b.) LV+5-FU+UDPG+G-CSF

The schedule was the same as used for LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF, except that UDPG was given 2 and 24 hours after 5-FU.

#### c.) EDU+5-FU

In these experiments, 5-FU and EDU were given according to either of two schedules: (i) the *single-dose schedule* consisted of a single 100 mg/kg dose of 5-FU preceded by 200 or 400 mg/kg of EDU as shown in Table 4.1; (ii) in the *fractionated-dose schedule* the same total dose of 5-FU was given in five equal parts (i.e. 5x20mg/kg) 24 hours apart, and each dose of 5-FU was preceded by 200 mg/kg EDU (Table 4.2).

groups	time of administration* (hours)	
	-1	0
1x control	S	S
1x FU100	S	FU100
1x EDU200	EDU200	S
1x EDU400	EDU400	S
1x EDU200 + 1x FU100	EDU200	FU100
1x EDU400 + 1x FU100	EDU400	FU100

**Table 4.1.** Combination of 5-FU and EDU: Single-dose schedule

\*The time of the administration of 5-FU was considered as time zero

- S: 10 ml/kg 0.9 % NaCl
- FU100: 100 mg/kg 5-fluorouracil
- EDU200: 200 mg/kg 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridin
- EDU400: 400 mg/kg 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridin
| groups          | time of administration* (hours) |      |        |      |        |      |        |      |        |      |
|-----------------|---------------------------------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|
| groups          | -97                             | -96  | -73    | -72  | -49    | -48  | 48 -25 |      | -1     | 0    |
| 5x control      | S                               | S    | S      | S    | S      | S    | S      | S    | S      | S    |
| 5x FU20         | S                               | FU20 | S      | FU20 | S      | FU20 | S      | FU20 | S      | FU20 |
| 5x EDU200       | EDU200                          | S    | EDU200 | S    | EDU200 | S    | EDU200 | S    | EDU200 | S    |
| 5xEDU200+5xFU20 | EDU200                          | FU20 | EDU200 | FU20 | EDU200 | FU20 | EDU200 | FU20 | EDU200 | FU20 |

**Table 4.2.** Combination of 5-FU and EDU: Fractionated-dose schedule

\*The time of the administration of the last dose of 5-FU was considered as time zero

S: 10 ml/kg 0.9 % NaCl

FU20: 20 mg/kg 5-fluorouracil

EDU200: 200 mg/kg 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridin

#### 4.1.2 Experimental animals

(BALB/c x CBA)F1 or BDF1 mice of both sexes at least 8 weeks old were given standard rodent diet and fresh drinking water *ad libitum*. The number of mice in each treatment group at each time of observation was 8-12 (typically 9) if not indicated otherwise.

#### 4.1.3 Cell counts

Blood was drawn from the retroorbital plexus; bone marrow cells were washed out of femoral shafts with culture medium under aseptic conditions. Leucocytes and nucleated bone marrow cells were counted visually in a counting chamber in Türk's solution. Differential cell counts were done on smears stained according to May-Grünwald-Giemsa. Generally 100 cells on each smear were counted but even in case of severe leucopenia a visual count of a minimum of 50 cells were done. The **cellularity** of the bone marrow is defined and will be presented in the *Results* as the number of nucleated bone marrow cells found in one femur.

#### 4.1.4 Colony assay for hematopoietic progenitor cells

The number of progenitor cells with colony forming ability (CFUc = Colony Forming Unit in culture = GM-CFU = Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony Forming Unit) was estimated in semi-solid agar gel cultures free of the drugs used for the in vivo treatment of mice. The source of colony stimulating factor was either L-cell-conditioned medium or WEHI-3B-McCoy's 5A modified medium (Gibco, Grand Island) was conditioned medium. supplemented with amino acids, vitamins, Na-pyruvate, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, penicillin and streptomycin according to Pike and Robinson (Pike and Robinson, 1970) as well as with horse serum,  $5 \times 10^{-5}$  M 2-mercaptoethanol (Loba, Fischamend, Germany) and 0.3% agar (Ionagar No3, Oxoid, London, or Noble Agar, Difco). Usually 1x10<sup>5</sup> cells were plated in each dish; higher numbers of cells were, however, plated when the expected frequency of CFUc among nucleated bone marrow cells was low (at the first days after the administration of 5-FU). Plastic Petri dishes with a diameter of 35-mm were used (Greiner, Nürtingen, Germany), and the cultures were incubated for 7 days at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% (v/v)  $CO_2$ .

Colonies, defined as groups of at least 50 cells, were counted under a dissecting microscope (SZ6045; Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) at the end of the incubation period. At least three parallel Petri dishes were prepared for each animal. The results will be given in terms of (i) **frequency of CFUc** defined as the number of colonies growing from 10<sup>5</sup> nucleated bone marrow cells plated, and (ii) **CFUc-content of the femoral bone marrow**, calculated by multiplying the frequency of CFUc by the cellularity of the femoral marrow.

#### 4.1.5 Statistical analysis

For comparisons of multiple treatment groups, non-parametric methods were used: first the Kruskal-Wallis test was performed, then – if indicated by this non-parametric analysis of variance – paired comparisons were done according to Conover (Conover 1980) or Dunn (Dunn 1964, Motulsky 2003). If there were only two groups to be compared, the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used. The incidences of neutropenia were compared by Fisher's exact test.

# 4.2 Measurements of fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes in single cells and tissue sections

#### 4.2.1 Preparation of single cells for LSC measurements

Two human breast cancer cell lines (MDA-MB-231 and ZR-75-1), and one human bladder cancer cell line (T-24) in which the activity of TP and DPD had been well characterized (Ishikawa et al. 1998) were chosen as controls. These cell lines represented the extreme low (T-24 and MDA-MB-231) and the extreme high (ZR-75-1) TP/DPD ratios as determined by enzyme activity measurements (Ishikawa et al. 1998).

#### 4.2.1.1 Cell cultures

Cancer cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) supplemented with amino acids, vitamins, penicillin, streptomycin,  $\alpha$ -thioglycerol and 5% FBS in humidified air containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 4.2.1.2 Slide preparation

The cells were harvested from cultures by trypsinization, washed, and suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at a concentration of  $10^5$  cells per ml. One ml of this cell suspension was deposited on silanized slides using a Hettich Universal 16 cytospin centrifuge (Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany). The slides were air-dried and kept at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until stained.

#### 4.2.1.3 Indirect immunofluorescent labeling of enzymes

For the primary labeling of the enzymes, a mouse anti-human-TP (1C6-203) and a rat antihuman-DPD (2H9-1b) monoclonal antibody were used (both were from Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA). For the parallel indirect labeling it was essential to use primary antibodies from different species to avoid cross-reaction with the secondary antibodies. As secondary antibodies, Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rat IgG (H+L) was used for labeling the rat anti-DPD antibody, and either Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L) or Alexa Fluor 647 goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L) was used for labeling the mouse anti-TP antibody (all labeled secondary antibodies were purchased from Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA). To avoid overlapping of emission spectra of various fluorescent dies, TO-PRO-3 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) was used for detecting the cells with Alexa 488 and Alexa 546 double labeling. TO-PRO-3 is a monomeric cyanine nucleic acid stain, which is excited by the 633 nm wavelength HeNe laser and its emission is detected in the long red channel. After blocking non-specific binding sites with Superblock (ScyTek, Logan, UT, USA), the slides were incubated at room temperature for 90 minutes with optimized concentrations of the primary antibodies (1:200 for the anti-TP and 1:500 for the anti-DPD, the stock concentration was 1 mg/ml for both). Following a washing step in PBS and 30 minutes incubated for 15 minutes with TO-PRO-3 at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. The saturating concentrations for the primary and secondary antibodies were determined using single primary-secondary pairs and for the double staining protocol, equal volumes of 2x concentrations of the antibodies were mixed. Finally, the slides were rinsed with distilled water and cover-slipped with Prolong antifade solution (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA).

#### 4.2.2 Preparation of tissue sections for LSC measurements

#### 4.2.2.1 Preparation of "artificial tissues" from established cancer cell lines

The cultured tumor cells were trypsinized, washed three times in PBS, and a tight pellet was prepared by centrifuging the cells at 1500 g for 10 min. The cell pellet was incubated in 10% neutral buffered formalin overnight at 4°C. The cell pellets were first embedded in HistoGel<sup>TM</sup> (Richard-Allan Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI, USA) and then in paraffin according to standard pathology protocols.

#### 4.2.2.2 Slide preparation

The paraffin-embedded cell lines and tissue blocks were cut into 4-5  $\mu$ m-thick sections and, in most cases, one section of each control cell line sample was mounted on the same slide with the tumor tissue section. Before staining, sections were deparaffinized with xylene, rehydrated with 95% ethanol, placed in preheated DAKO Target Retrieval solution (DAKO Corporation, Carpinteria, CA) and antigen retrieval was performed at 95°C for 25 min by heating in a vegetable steamer.

The staining procedure was the same as described above for single cells, except that TO-PRO-3 was not used in sections for contouring. This made it possible to use Alexa 647 goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) which was excited by the HeNe laser, instead of the Alexa 546.

#### 4.2.3 Laser-scanning cytometry on single cells

After staining, slides were analyzed using a Laser Scanning Cytometer (LSC, CompuCyte Corp, Cambridge, MA, USA). The LSC was equipped with an Ar-ion and a HeNe laser (wavelength 488 and 633 nm, respectively). The Ar-ion laser line was used for excitation of the Alexa 488 and 546 dyes, and the HeNe was used for the DNA dye TO-PRO-3. For the measurements on single cells, contouring was based on the TO-PRO-3 fluorescence detected in the long red channel (>650 nm). In this case the fluorescence of the Alexa 488 and 546 dyes were detected in the green and the orange channel, respectively.

#### 4.2.4 Laser-scanning cytometry on tissue sections

The phantom contouring feature of the LSC was chosen to detect the fluorescence intensity in tissue sections. Phantom contouring is a stereologic, random sampling technique where fixed size circular contours are randomly generated by the LSC (Luther 2002). The size and density of phantom contours are determined by the operator. They are analyzed by the software in the same way as contoured cells. In our studies, 10x objective was used, the radius of the phantom contours was set to 10  $\mu$ m, the minimal distance between the phantom centers to 20  $\mu$ m (to avoid overlapping of contours), and the number of contours was set to the maximum possible (950 per field). The Alexa 488 dye was excited and its fluorescence was detected as described above for the single cells, and the Alexa 647 was excited by the HeNe laser and its emission was detected in the long red channel.

#### 4.2.5 Data analysis

#### 4.2.5.1 Parameters used for characterizing the enzyme levels

In single cells identified by contouring on fluorescence of a nuclear stain, the integral fluorescence related to each enzyme divided by the area of the contour was used to describe the enzyme levels. This corrects for differences in cell size. In sections of cell lines, the integral alone was used, because the area of each phantom contour is constant.

#### 4.2.5.2 Normalization

The measured fluorescence intensities were normalized to those of the ZR-75-1 cell line, which had the highest ratio of TP/DPD enzyme activities out of a number of cancer cell lines studied previously (Ishikawa et al. 1998).

#### 4.2.5.3 Contour mapping of enzyme levels and ratios of enzyme levels in tumor sections

The standard proprietary software of the LSC (WinCyte 3.4) is capable to draw scatter plots of the X and Y positions of the detected cells or phantoms, and it is also possible to choose regions on, *e.g.*, the fluorescence integral histograms and assign a color to those points. However, WinCyte 3.4 graphs can only be transferred using screen capture, resulting in poor quality reproductions for publication purposes. Additionally, the data files produced by WinCyte 3.4 use the user-defined 'OTHER' segment of the FCS 3.0 data file standard for storing the list mode data of cells/contours in a proprietary format. Thus, to get these data for the individual contours the data files had to be exported as ASCII text files from within WinCyte 3.4. The list mode data then were used for creating contour maps by using the "filled contour plot" graph style of Sigma Plot 8.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) after smoothing the raw data with the built-in 3D data smoother.

# 4.3 Estimating the sensitivity of tumor cell lines to 5'-DFUR with the MTT assay

Sensitivities of the tumor cell lines to 5'-DFUR were determined using the MTT assay (Eliason et al. 1990). Tumor cells were plated into triplicate wells of a 96-well plate at cell concentrations for each line that had been previously determined to be optimal. Two different

cell concentrations were plated for each cell line (1600 and 800 cells/well for ZR-75-1 cells; 800 and 400 cells/well for T-24 cells; 400 and 200 cells/well for MDA-MB-231 cells). After 24 hours incubation at 37°C in a fully humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in air, increasing concentrations of 5'-DFUR were added. After 72 hours of incubation 50  $\mu$ l of MTT (3 mg/ml) were added and the plates were incubated for 4.5 hours before addition of 50  $\mu$ l of 25% SDS at pH 2.0 to stop the further transformation of MTT to its blue formazan derivative. The plates were incubated overnight, and the absorbance was measured at 595 nm using a Tecan Ultra ELISA reader (Tecan Inc., Durham, NC, USA).

### 4.4 Estimating the sensitivity of laser-scanning cytometry to detect cells expressing green fluorescent protein

#### 4.4.1 Cell sample collection and preparation

Adult female C57BL/6-TgN(ACTbEGFP)10sb mice hemizygous for "enhanced" GFP (EGFP) cDNA under the control of a chicken beta-actin promoter and cytomegalovirus enhancer were mated with adult male wild-type C57BL/6J mice. The test progeny were bled (< 0.1 ml/mouse) from the retro-orbital plexus at 21–35 days after birth. Blood was also obtained from adult parental GFP-hemizygous (GFP+/–) mice and wild-type C57BL6/J (GFP–/–) mice, as positive and negative controls, respectively. After dilution with 1 ml of normal saline containing 10 units/ml of heparin, the mononuclear cells were separated with density gradient centrifugation using Nycoprep 1.077A density gradient media (AXIS-SHIELD PoC, Oslo, Norway). The separated cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at room temperature, deposited on slides using a Hettich Universal 16 cytospin centrifuge (Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany) and a coverslip was placed on top with 50% glycerol. For experiments detecting rare cells, known numbers of GFP+/– mononuclear cells were mixed with GFP–/– cells at a ratio of 1:1000.

#### 4.4.2 Fluorescence measurements

The 488-nm wavelength Ar-ion laser line of the LSC (CompuCyte, Cambridge, MA, USA) was used as the excitation light source and the emitted fluorescence was detected in the green

38

channel. During phenotype determination, forward scatter was used for cell contouring and the fluorescence intensity of cells was measured by the green fluorescence max pixel parameter, which is the fluorescence intensity of the brightest pixel inside a detected cell. For estimating rare cell detection sensitivity, green fluorescence was selected as the contouring parameter and to ensure high specificity, the threshold level was set to a value that did not detect cells in the negative control sample. This threshold was used during the scanning of the slides containing mixed GFP positive and GFP negative cells.

#### **5 RESULTS**

#### 5.1 Effects of LV, U or UDPG and G-CSF on the hematotoxicity of 5-FU

## 5.1.1 Effect of a single ip. dose of 5-FU or the combination of LV+5-FU on the myelopoiesis of mice

As expected, the myelotoxic effect of 5-FU was proven by all measured parameters. After 5-FU treatment, the **cellularity** (total number of nucleated bone marrow cells in a femur) was significantly below the control from Day 2 to Day 10 (Fig. 5.1A) and the nadir was reached on day 4, when the median in the 5-FU treated group was only 19% of the control.

The **frequency of CFUc** (number of colonies grown per  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells) was significantly below the control on day 1, 2 and 3; the nadir occurred on the first day, when the median of the 5-FU group was less than 0.1% of the control. On Day 5, 6, 7, 8, 10 and 12 this parameter was above the control, although statistical significance was detected only on Day 10 (p<0.001, Fig. 5.1B).

The shape of the **femoral CFUc content** vs. time curve was similar, but the CFUc content in the 5-FU-only group was still significantly below the control on day 4. Similarly, the CFUc-content was higher than the control from Day 7 to Day 12, and the difference was significant only on Day 10 (p<0.05, Fig. 5.1C).

The **absolute neutrophil count** (**ANC**) in the 5-FU group was significantly below the control from day 4 to day 10, and the nadir was measured on day 6 (Fig. 5.1D) when the median was only 4% of the control group. The prevalence of neutropenia (percentage of mice with ANC below  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /liter, the limit of neutropenia) was significantly higher in the mice given 5-FU than in the controls on Days 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 (p = 0.0058, p<0.0001, p<0.0001, p = 0.0001 and p = 0.0294, respectively, Fisher's exact test). The nadir of the median ANC was observed on Day 6, when 17 of the 18 mice (94.4%) were neutropenic.

Pretreatment with LV appeared to enhance the myelotoxicity of 5-FU. Although a day-for-day comparison failed to reveal statistical significance, the median values in the group given LV before 5-FU were mostly lower than those in the 5-FU-only group. The prevalence of neutropenia also supported an increase in the toxicity after LV pretreatment, as on Day 5 it was significantly higher in the LV+5-FU group than in the 5-FU only group (100% and 76.2%, respectively; p = 0.0239, n = 21 in each group).

Since the combination of LV and 5-FU was at least as myelotoxic as 5-FU alone, the presentation of our further results shall be confined to experiments describing our efforts to mitigate the myelotoxicity of this combination, which is widely used in the treatment of colorectal cancer.



**Fig. 5.1.** Effect of 100 mg/kg 5-FU or a combination of LV and 5-FU on the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), on the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), on the femoral CFUc content (C) and on the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /l (shown as a dotted line on D).

#### 5.1.2 Uridine post-treatment reduced the bone marrow damage caused by LV+5-FU

The median cellularity of the bone marrow in the LV+5-FU+U group was higher than in the mice given only LV+5-FU from Day 2 to Day 10, *i.e.* at eight consecutive observations. Day-for-day comparisons showed statistical significance on Day 4 and Day 5, when the median cellularity in the LV+5-FU+U group was two and three times, respectively, as high as in the other group (p<0.05, Fig. 5.2A). U-rescue seemed to allow for an earlier and less deep nadir (Day 3,  $5x10^6$  cells/femur as compared with Day 4,  $3x10^6$  cells/femur without U) as well as for an earlier recovery.

In the first six days, the median values for the frequency of CFUc and for the CFUccontent were higher in the U-rescue group than those in the other group, and the ratio of the values observed simultaneously in the two groups approximated or even exceeded an order of magnitude; these differences were statistically significant on Day 3 and 4 (p<0.001, Fig. 5.2B and C).

One day after 5-FU, uridine resulted in significantly increased ANC (Fig. 5.2D). The mobilization of mature neutrophil granulocytes into the bloodstream may explain this early response. No significant increase was detected in ANC after uridine "rescue" in the LV+5-FU group from Day 2, but on Day 7 and 8 the median of ANC was 3.7 and 7.9 times higher (Fig. 5.2D). The median ANC was reduced below the limit of neutropenia on Day 5 for four consecutive days in the LV+FU group but only for two days in the mice treated also with U. In this group the ANC returned to the control by Day 8, when the median ANC was still below the limit of neutropenia without U-treatment. U-rescue reduced the prevalence of neutropenia on Day 5 from 100% (21/21) to 71% (12/17, p = 0.012) and on Day 8 from 67% (6/9) to 0% (0/9, p = 0.0045). The nadir of the median ANC was observed on Day 6 in both groups.



**Fig. 5.2.** Effect of U on the myelotoxicity caused by LV+5-FU as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9 / 1$  (shown as a dotted line on D).

#### 5.1.3 Effect of G-CSF on the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU

Daily administration of G-CSF after LV+5-FU was associated with higher cellularity on Days 5-7, but these differences were not significant statistically (Fig. 5.3A). Neither the frequency of CFUc nor the CFUc-content of the femoral marrow was significantly different in the two groups (Fig. 5.3B and C). The beneficial effect of G-CSF-treatment, however,

manifested itself in the ANC, which—after a nadir on Day 5 (median:  $0.0905 \times 10^{9}$ /liter) began to recover from Day 6, one day earlier than without G-CSF (Fig. 5.3D), so that on Day 7 the ANC was not lower than the control value and significantly higher than without G-CSF (p<0.05). G-CSF-treatment reduced the prevalence of neutropenia on Day 5 from 100% (21/21) to 75% (9/12, p = 0.04) and on Day 7 from 67% (12/18) to 0% (0/9, p = 0.0011). However, it should be noted that on Day 4 the median ANC in the G-CSF-group was *lower* than without G-CSF; although this difference was not significant statistically, the prevalence of neutropenia was *increased* on this day by G-CSF from 38% (9/24) to 75% (12/16, p = 0.022). As for the duration of neutropenia, the median ANC in the G-CSF-group was lower than the limit of neutropenia for 3 days, as compared to 4 days without G-CSF (Fig. 5.3D).

## 5.1.4 The combination of G-CSF and uridine was synergistic in mitigating the LV+5-FU-induced neutropenia

Daily administration of G-CSF after LV+5-FU+U to further mitigate the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU or promote recovery did not produce dramatic effects on the three bone-marrow parameters (Fig. 5.4A, B and C). However, the ANC indicated the benefits of this combination, which seemed to surpass those of either U or G-CSF given alone: the median ANC remained above the limit of neutropenia even at its nadir (Day 4,  $0.316 \times 10^9$ /liter). On Day 6, when the nadir of ANC in both of the LV+5-FU and LV+5-FU+U groups occurred (with values of  $0.0085 \times 10^9$ /liter and  $0.145 \times 10^9$ /liter, respectively), the median ANC in the LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF group amounted to  $0.85 \times 10^9$ /liter, almost three times as high as the limit of neutropenia and only slightly below the normal median ANC (about 1.3 x10<sup>9</sup>/liter in our control mice). On Day 6, the prevalence of neutropenia was also significantly lower in the LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF (11%, 1/9) group than in the mice treated with LV+5-FU+U (78%, 14/18; p = 0.0016). The duration of neutropenia in the LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF group was zero day, since the median ANC was below the limit of neutropenia. For comparison, the median ANC was below the limit of neutropenia on four, two and three days in the groups treated with LV+5-FU, LV+5-FU+U, and LV+5-FU+G-CSF, respectively.



**Fig. 5.3.** Effect of G-CSF on the myelotoxicity caused by LV+5-FU as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /l (shown as a dotted line on D).



**Fig. 5.4.** Effect of G-CSF on the myelotoxicity caused by LV+5-FU+U as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /l (shown as a dotted line on D).

#### 5.1.5 UDPG-rescue reduced the LV+5-FU-induced damage to bone marrow

Because of the limited availability of endotoxin-free UDPG in Hungary, the effects of UDPG-rescue were studied only on Day 2, 4, 5 and 6, which included the time of the nadirs

of bone marrow cellularity (Day 4) and of ANC (Day 6) in the LV+5-FU group, whereas Day 2 seemed to be suitable to detect effects on the CFUc-population (Fig. 5.1). The median cellularity of the bone marrow in the LV+5-FU+UDPG group was higher than in the mice given only LV+5-FU from Day 4 to Day 6 *i.e.* at three consecutive observations (Fig. 5.5A). The ratio of the medians of these two groups was about 2 on Day 5 and 6 (p < 0.01 and p < 0.05, respectively). In other words, UDPG-rescue—similarly to the results with U-rescue (Fig. 5.2)—seemed to allow for an earlier recovery. The median number of colonies per 10<sup>5</sup> nucleated bone marrow cells in the UDPG treated group was higher than in the LV+5-FU group on day 2, 4 and 5, and the difference was significant on Day 2 and 5 (p < 0.001 and p < 0.01, respectively; Fig. 5.5B). The femoral CFUc content was higher in the LV+5-FU+UDPG-group at each day of our observations (p < 0.001 for both Day 2 and 5, Fig. 5.5C). The ANC after UDPG post-treatment was slightly below (p < 0.05) the LV+5-FU group on day 4 and above it on Day 5 and 6 (p < 0.05 for both days; Fig. 5.5D).

Daily administration of G-CSF after LV+5-FU+UDPG to further mitigate the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU, or promote recovery, produced results (Fig. 5.6) similar to those described (Chapter 5.1.4) when the rescue-agent was uridine. The effects were not conspicuous in the three bone marrow parameters, and the significant benefits of the combination of a rescue agent, in this case UDPG, with G-CSF manifested themselves in the ANC. The median ANC remained above the limit of neutropenia even at its nadir (Day 4), with a value  $(0.32x10^9/\text{liter})$  close to that observed after the administration of LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF. After Day 4, the ANC began to rise and on Day 6, when the ANC-nadir was observed in all groups not given G-CSF, the median ANC in the LV+5-FU+UDPG+G-CSF group was  $1.59x10^9/\text{liter}$ , well within the normal range of ANC. On this day, none of the 9 mouse given this regimen was neutropenic. For comparison, the prevalence of neutropenia on Day 6 was 89% (8/9) in the LV+5-FU+UDPG-group (p = 0.0002).

It should be noted that the prevalence of neutropenia was significantly decreased by any of the "double rescue treatments" (U+G-CSF or UDPG+G-CSF) on day 6 after the LV+5-FU combination. This supported the previously described observation that LV pretreatment did not prevent the beneficial effect of uridine.



**Fig. 5.5.** Effect of UDPG on the myelotoxicity caused by LV+5-FU as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /l (shown as a dotted line on D).



**Fig. 5.6.** Effect of G-CSF on the myelotoxicity caused by LV+5-FU+UDPG as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9 / 1$  (shown as a dotted line on D).

# 5.2 Effect of 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EDU) on the bone marrow toxicity of 5-FU

As described under *Materials and Methods* two dose-schedules were applied in these experiments: 100 mg/kg of 5-FU was administered either in a single dose or in five equal parts given 24 hours apart (i.e. 5 x 20 mg/kg 5-FU). Sixty minutes before each dose of 5-FU, 200 mg/kg of EDU was given; in the single-dose experiments EDU was applied also at a dose of 400 mg/kg. In the next three figures, the results are presented as a function of time after the administration of the last dose of 5-FU.

#### 5.2.1 Fractionated dosing of 5-FU reduced its myelotoxicity (Fig. 5.7)

As seen in our previous experiments (Fig. 5.1.), a single 100 mg/kg dose of 5-FU produced severe myelotoxicity; this was, however, dramatically mitigated by the fractionated administration (Fig. 5.7). The median **cellularity** of the bone marrow, although it was significantly lower than the control 4 hours, 1 and 2 days after the last dose of 5-FU (p<0.05), remained above 60% of the control even at its nadir on Day 1, when it was 12.3×10<sup>6</sup> per femur, nine times as high as the nadir after a single dose of 100 mg/kg ( $1.36\times10^6$  per femur, Fig. 5.7A). The **frequency of CFUc in the bone marrow** was not significantly lower than the control only 4 hours after the last dose of 5-FU (Fig. 5.7C). For comparison, both of these variables were reduced to approximately 0.1% of the controls when 100 mg/kg 5-FU was given in a single dose. The **ANC** was significantly lower than the control from Day 1 to Day 3, but returned to the control by Day 5; the nadir of median ANC was  $0.2\times10^9/L$  (Day 2), just below the  $0.3\times10^9/L$  limit of neutropenia. For comparison, after a single dose of 100 mg/kg of 5-FU (Day 6, see Fig. 5.7D)



**Fig. 5.7.** Comparison of the myelotoxicity of 5x20 mg/kg and 1x100 mg/kg 5-FU by measuring the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), the femoral CFUc content (C) and the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3x10^9/L$  (shown as a dotted line on D).

#### 5.2.2 Effect of EDU on the myelopoiesis in mice

EDU alone did not result in biologically significant changes in any of the measured hematological parameters either given according to the single-dose schedule or according to

50

the fractionated dosing schedule. Although after 5x200 mg/kg EDU the ANC was consistently below the control at all investigated times, the difference was not statistically significant (data not shown).

#### 5.2.3 EDU increased the myelotoxicity of 5-FU

#### 5.2.3.1 Single-dose schedule (Fig. 5.8)

EDU pretreatment aggravated the effect of 5-FU. This effect appeared to be conspicuous in the **frequency of CFUc** among nucleated bone marrow cells and in the **CFUc-content** of the femoral marrow on Day 1 and 2, as well as in the **cellularity** of the femoral marrow on Day 5 and 6. The difference in the cellularity between the 5-FU only group and the EDU+5-FU-treated animals was significant on Day 5 and 6 (p<0.01). In both groups treated with 5-FU+EDU the median **CFUc-content** of the femoral marrow was lower than in the 5-FU-only group all through the six day observation period and this was statistically significant on each day from Day 2 to Day 6 (p<0.05 on Day 2, 4 and 6; p<0.01 on Day 3 and 5). The difference associated with the administration of EDU approached or even exceeded an order of magnitude on almost all days of observation. The **ANC** in the group treated with either dose of EDU was lower than in the mice given 5-FU-only on Day 5 and 6, but this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.13, Fig. 5.8D).



**Fig. 5.8.** Effect of a single pretreatment dose of 200 or 400 mg/kg EDU on the myelotoxicity caused by 1x100 mg/kg 5-FU as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3x10^9$ /L (shown as a dotted line on D).

#### 5.2.3.2 Fractionated-dose schedule (Fig. 5.9)

Pretreatment with 200 mg/kg EDU one hour before each dose of 5-FU given according to the fractionated-dose schedule (20 mg/kg daily for 5 days) severely increased the myelotoxicity with respect to all of the measured parameters (Fig. 5.9).

The cellularity remained as low as 13-25% of the 5-FU-only group all through the observation period (Fig. 5.9A) and both variables characterizing the CFUc-content were several orders of magnitude lower than in the 5-FU-only group (Fig. 5.9B and 5.9C) till Day 4. Actually, few if any CFUc were found in the bone marrow of the EDU+5-FU group from 4h to 3 days after the last dose of 5-FU, whereas the frequency of CFUc in bone marrow cells and the total femoral CFUc-content were normal or, at most, moderately subnormal in the 5-FU-only group. In the EDU+5-FU group, a rapid increase in the frequency of CFUc was observed from Day 3 to Day 5, indicating the beginning of the regeneration. The disadvantageous effect of EDU was supported by the ANC, the median of which was always below that of the 5-FU-only group and decreased almost steadily without unequivocal signs of reaching its nadir till the end of the 5 day observation period. For comparison, the ANC in the 5-FU-only group reached its nadir on Day 2 and returned to the control by Day 5; as a consequence, the difference between the two groups increased with time (Fig. 5.9D). The prevalence of neutropenia, a variable with obvious clinical relevance, was always higher in the  $5\times$ [EDU+5-FU] group than in the mice given only 5-FU, and this difference was highly significant on Days 1, 4 and 5 (Table 5.1).

**Table 5.1.** Prevalence of neutropenia in mice treated with  $5 \times 20 \text{ mg/kg 5-FU}$  or  $5 \times [200 \text{ mg/kg EDU} + 20 \text{ mg/kg 5-FU}]$ 

	5×	20 mg/kg 5-	FU	5×[200 mg/k			
	number of mice		prevalence of	lence of number of		prevalence of	P* =
	neutropenic	total	neutropenia,	neutronenic	total	neutropenia,	
	neuropenie	totui	per cent	neuropenie	totui	per cent	
4 h	1	9	11	4	9	44	0.147
1 day	3	12	25	12	12	100	0.000168
2 days	6	9	67	9	9	100	0.103
3 days	6	9	67	7	7	100	0.150
4 days	1	9	11	7	7	100	0.000699
5 days	1	12	8.3	8	8	100	0.0000714

\*Fisher's test for the difference between the two groups



**Fig. 5.9.** Effect of 200 mg/kg EDU pretreatment on the myelotoxicity of 5x20 mg/kg 5-FU as measured by the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), by the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), by the femoral CFUc content (C) and by the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3x10^9$ /L (shown as a dotted line on D).

### 5.3 Measurements of fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes with Laser Scanning Cytometry (LSC)

#### 5.3.1 TP and DPD measurements in single cells and "artificial tissue sections"

Three cancer cell lines were used to establish conditions for measuring immunoreactive enzyme levels in tumor sections, a bladder cancer cell line (T-24) and two breast cancer cell lines (MDA-MB-231, ZR-75-1). Initial experiments were performed with cells prepared using a cytocentrifuge. In these experiments the numbers of cells used for preparing the slides was limited so that the majority of individual cells were isolated from each other. The nuclei of the cells were contoured using the DNA dye TO-PRO-3, which appeared to produce good results with the fluorochromes applied in preliminary studies so it was used for all further work.

#### 5.3.1.1 TP in single and double stained single cells

The results of measurements of TP obtained with cells stained only with anti-TP are compared to those obtained with cells stained with both anti-TP and anti-DPD (Fig. 5.10A and 5.10B). Results are expressed as integral fluorescence of the orange channel divided by the contour area to correct for the variability in cell sizes. The relative TP levels in the cell lines measured were similar whether stained with anti-TP alone, or both antibodies, with T-24 having the lowest level of fluorescence and ZR-75-1 the highest.

#### 5.3.1.2 TP in double stained "artificial tissue sections"

During the course of these experiments, it was clear that there was considerable overlap between the green and orange channels that could not be completely compensated for by the WinCyte program. Further, experiments with tumor sections indicated that establishing optimal threshold levels for nuclear contouring was extremely difficult due to the close proximity of the cells and the random orientation of the nuclei in the sections as seen in Fig. 5.11A. There are clusters of multiple nuclei that are contoured and areas where none are contoured. Setting higher thresholds for the contouring capability of the LSC was used to provide unbiased random sampling of areas in the sections so that all areas had an equal probability of being sampled (Fig. 5.11B).



**Fig. 5.10.** Comparison of staining for TP in single cells and sections using different fluorochromes. **A:** Single cells stained with Alexa-546 labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-TP. **B:** Single cells double-stained with Alexa-546 labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-DPD. **C:** Sections double-stained with Alexa 546-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-DPD. **D:** Sections double-stained with Alexa 647-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488 labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-DPD. Solid lines represent results obtained with T-24 cells, dotted lines represent results with MDA-MB-231 cells and dashed lines represent results with ZR-75-1 cells.

The results of the double stained "artificial tissue sections" using the same fluorochromes as used in the experiment with single cells are shown in Fig. 5.10C. Because the area of the phantom contours is constant, the results are expressed as integral fluorescence. The histograms are narrower than those in Fig. 5.10B, appearing similar to those shown for the single labeled, isolated cells (Fig. 5.10A).



A.





**Fig. 5.11.** Scan data display images of standard contouring (A) and phantom contouring (B) on sections of an esophageal tumor.

Because TO-PRO-3 was no longer needed for contouring the nuclei with the stereological analysis, the far red channel was used for detecting TP as shown in Fig. 5.10D where Alexa 647 is used instead of Alexa 546 as the secondary label for TP in cell line sections. The Alexa 488 secondary label remained the same for staining DPD. The use of the two lasers for these measurements, which scan sequentially, means that there is no overlap between the two labels.

#### 5.3.1.3 Results of DPD measurements

The DPD measurements in single cells stained with only anti-DPD (Alexa 488) and in sections stained with both TP and DPD antibodies indicated that both protocols gave similar results with respect to the relative enzyme levels in the three cell lines (Fig 5.12A and 5.12B). We measured the lowest DPD level in the T-24 cells and the highest in the MDA-MB-231 cells.



**Fig. 5.12.** Comparison of single staining in single cells and double staining in sections for detection of DPD. **A:** Single cells were stained with Alexa 488 labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-DPD (see Fig. 14A). **B:** Sections were double-stained with Alexa 647 labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP and Alexa 488 labeled secondary antibody to detect binding of anti-DPD. Solid lines represent results obtained with T-24 cells, dotted lines represent results with MDA-MB-231 cells and dashed lines represent results with ZR-75-1 cells.

#### 5.3.1.4 TP/DPD ratio measurements

The ratios of TP fluorescence integral (as measured with either Alexa 546 or Alexa 647) to the DPD fluorescence integral (Alexa 488) were calculated directly by WinCyte. Representative histograms are shown in Fig. 5.13 (A and B) for the ratio measurements in single cells with Alexa 546/488 and in cell line sections with Alexa 647/488. The highest TP/DPD ratio was seen in ZR-75-1 cells while T-24 and MDA-MB-231 cells showed a much lower ratio of the TP/DPD levels.



**Fig. 5.13.** Comparison of TP/DPD ratios in single cells and in sections. **A:** Single cells were stained with Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-DPD and Alexa 546-labeled secondary for detection of anti-TP. **B:** Sections were stained with Alexa 488-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-DPD and Alexa 647-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-DPD and Alexa 647-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-DPD and Alexa 647-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-DPD and Alexa 647-labeled secondary antibody for detection of anti-TP. Solid lines represent results obtained with T-24 cells, dotted lines represent results with MDA-MB-231 cells and dashed lines represent results with ZR-75-1 cells.

Based on the results of several studies with these three cell lines, the differences in fluorescence intensities for the T-24 and ZR-75-1 cell lines were reproducibly distinct and well separated. Thus, these cells appear to be useful standards for comparing the levels of TP and DPD in tumor sections.

## 5.3.2 Correlation between 5'-DFUR sensitivity and immunofluorescence measurements

To demonstrate that the immunofluorescence measurement of the enzyme levels is related to biological activity, results were compared to 5'-DFUR cytotoxicity measurements determined with the MTT assay. ZR-75-1 cells were the most sensitive to 5'-DFUR (50% inhibitory concentration [IC<sub>50</sub>] = 38  $\mu$ M), whereas T-24 cells were least sensitive ([IC<sub>50</sub>] = 200  $\mu$ M). The MDA-MB-231 cell line showed an intermediate level of sensitivity ([IC<sub>50</sub>] = 120  $\mu$ M). There was good correlation between the TP/DPD ratios measured with the LSC (normalized to the ZR-75-1 cell line) and the sensitivities of the cell lines (log IC<sub>50</sub>) as depicted in Fig. 5.14.



**Fig. 5.14.** Correlation between the TP/DPD ratios measured with the IF-LSC method in single cells and the 5'-DFUR sensitivity of ZR-75-1, MDA-MB-231 and T-24 cell lines measured by the MTT assay. The median of the ratio of the integral fluorescence measured for TP and DPD

was normalized to the ZR-75-1 cells. IC50 and normalized fluorescence intensity values are the averages of at least three separate experiments. (SEM: standard error of mean)

#### 5.3.3 Estimation of enzyme levels in a tumor section

Fig. 5.15. shows the analysis of TP/DPD ratio in a tumor section mounted on the same slide as sections of the three standard tumor cell lines. Scan areas were selected for each section and scanned using both the Ar-ion and the HeNe lasers. (Fig. 5.15A) The scanned areas were not set exactly to the size of the sections, so the green fluorescence was used for gating out areas where there was no tissue (Fig. 5.15B and 5.15C). The histograms of ratio of long red and green fluorescence (the ratio of TP/DPD) show that the TP/DPD ratio in the ZR-75-1 cell line is higher than in the other two cell lines, as expected, and that the heterogeneity of the TP/DPD ratio in the tumor sample is much higher than in the sections of the cell lines (Fig 5.15D), as expected.

To examine the topological distribution of the TP/DPD ratios in the tumor sample, different colors were assigned to different ranges of the TP/DPD ratios on the histogram with the WinCyte software (Fig. 5.15E). A scattergram of X position vs. Y position was made to show the topological expression of the TP/DPD ratios (Fig. 5.15F). To improve the quality of this map, we used the SigmaPlot program, as described in the Materials and Methods to make a contour map of the tumor section (Fig 5.15G). The scattergram produced by the WinCyte software and the contour map made by SigmaPlot show similar distributions of the high and low ratios in the section.



**Fig. 5.15.** Contour mapping of the ratio of fluorescence intensities in a tissue section. **A.** Distribution of all phantom contours showing the actually scanned areas. Three cell line sections and a tissue section were mounted on the same slide (ZR-75-1 – upper left, MDA-

MB-231 – lower left, T-24 – lower right and the tissue section – upper right). **B.** Separating the non-tissue containing areas from the tissue containing parts based on the higher green fluorescence max pixel values of the tissue containing areas. **C.** The distribution of gated phantom contours show the shape of the tissue pieces mounted on the slides. **D.** Histograms of the ratio of fluorescence integrals characterizing TP and DPD. The colors of curves correspond to the colors of the regions on the previous scattergrams. **E.** The cells in five regions on the histogram were colored with different colors. **F.** X-Y scattergram produced by WinCyte software showing the two dimensional distribution of the colored cells **G.** Contour map of the tissue section as made by SigmaPlot (see chapter 4.2.5.3). Scaling is in percent of the median of control ZR-75-1 cells.

# 5.4 Estimating the sensitivity of laser scanning cytometry for detection of rare GFP positive cell in a GFP negative population

#### 5.4.1 Separation of GFP-/- and GFP+/- samples

Fig. 5.16A shows a typical histogram demonstrating the difference in green fluorescence max pixel values between the GFP-/- and GFP+/- cells. The limit for the fluorescence level was set so that approximately 3.0–4.0% of the cells in the negative control were above this level. This level was used as a reference level for comparing the GFP+/- control (positive control) and the unknown samples. The results of three independent experiments are combined in Fig. 5.16B. The majority of cells in the positive control samples were above the reference level (80–98%). The mean fluorescence intensities in positive control samples were at least 4.4 times higher than that of the negative control samples. Among the unknown samples, two distinct groups could be distinguished. The first group was clearly GFP-/- with 0.0–6.7% of the cells above the GFP-/- reference level and mean fluorescence intensities were 0.7–1.0 times that of the negative control. The second group was GFP+/- with 81–98% of the cells above the reference level and mean fluorescence intensities were 3.8–8.44 times higher than the negative control.



#### A. Histograms of GFP negative and GFP positive controls

**Fig. 5.16.** Determination of GFP expressing phenotype of mice by measuring the green fluorescence max pixel in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. (A) Typical histograms demonstrating the difference in green fluorescence max pixel values between the cells of GFP-/- and GFP+/- mice. (B) Separation of GFP+/- and GFP-/- mice based on the mean of max pixel intensity in cells and percentage of cells above a reference level. There was no overlap between the different phenotypes with respect to these two parameters.

#### 5.4.2 Detection of rare GFP+/- cells mixed with GFP-/- cells

In mixing experiments with a dilution of 1 GFP+/– cell per 1000 GFP–/– cells, contouring was set using only green fluorescence as described in Methods. The cytocentrifuge slides were prepared with  $5x10^5$  total cells. Approximately 35–50 cells with strong green fluorescence were identified, representing 5–10% of the theoretically detectable GFP+/– cells on the slides. The results of three separate experiments are detailed in Table 5.2.

 Table 5.2
 Sensitivity of laser scanning cytometry for detection of GFP+/- cells in an artificial mixture of GFP+/- and GFP-/- white blood cells

Experiment No.	Ratio of GFP+/– to GFP–/– cells <sup>a</sup>	Contours detected <sup>b</sup> (% of maximum)	Cells detected <sup>c</sup> (% of maximum)
1	1:1000	$18.0 \pm 2.9$	$8.8 \pm 1.9$
2	1:1000	$22.0 \pm 9.6$	$10.4 \pm 4.1$
3	1:1000	$26.1 \pm 6.3$	$10.5 \pm 4.2$

<sup>a</sup> 500000 cells were cytospun onto an approximately 3.1 cm<sup>2</sup> area

<sup>b</sup> Number of detected contours using a threshold value which did not detect any contours on GFP-/- control slides; mean of three parallel slides  $\pm$  standard deviation of the mean; expressed in percent of the theoretical maximum of 500

<sup>c</sup> A contoured event was considered cell if its area was less than 500  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>; mean of three parallel slides ± standard deviation of the mean; expressed in percent of the theoretical maximum of 500

#### **6 DISCUSSION**

Improvement in the clinical results of fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy can be expected from biochemical modulation or from prediction of the patient's response.

#### 6.1 Effects of some biochemical modulators on the myelotoxicity of 5-FU

**Biochemical modulators** are drugs with no significant antitumor effects but capable of increasing the therapeutic index of fluoropyrimidines. During the last three decades, a number of such agents have been investigated in preclinical and/or clinical studies. In our experiments, we focused on the effects of four established or potential modulators – LV, U, UDPG and EDU – on the myelopoiesis of mice treated with 5-FU; LV and EDU are known to enhance the cytotoxic effects on tumor cells, whereas U and UDPG are supposed to protect normal cells (see *Chapter 2.2*). G-CSF is known to promote the recovery from neutropenia induced by various cytotoxic drugs (see *Chapter 2.5*). We supposed that combination of modulators protecting hematopoietic cells and G-CSF, which promotes their recovery, may further mitigate the damage to bone marrow and the consequent neutropenia, and thus possibly contribute to the more effective clinical use of fluoropyrimidines.

To describe the effects of 5-FU and its combination with modulators and/or G-CSF on myelopoiesis, we used four variables. The first three of these are related to bone marrow whereas the fourth one is the number of neutrophils in the peripheral blood:

- (i) **cellularity**, defined as the number of nucleated bone marrow cells in a femur;
- (ii) **frequency of CFUc:** number of colonies per  $10^5$  bone marrow cells plated;
- (iii) **CFUc-content** of one femur, actually the product of the two previous variables;
- (iv) **ANC** in the peripheral blood.

Estimation of CFUc has a special significance: it measures the reproductive integrity of a cell type which is actively proliferating under physiologic conditions, is regarded to be a major target of cytotoxic agents damaging bone marrow, and is supposed to play a basic role in the recovery of hematopoiesis from damage (Lohrmann and Schreml, 1982). Furthermore, similar methods are available to estimate CFUc in various species, including *Homo sapiens*. The CFUc-content of the bone marrow appears to be more directly related to the restorative capacity of hematopoiesis from damage than the frequency of CFUc in bone marrow cells.
The latter variable, however, can be estimated in human bone marrow, whereas the quantitative measurement of the cellularity and, hence, the total CFUc-content of the bone marrow in humans is difficult, if not impossible, in the clinical practice. Whereas the first three variables mentioned above, in particular the CFUc-content, are pivotal for the recovery from damage, the ANC has direct relevance to the short-term capability of the organism to survive.

As shown in Fig. 5.1, the severe myelotoxicity of 5-FU was clearly detectable in all of the four variables used in our experimental system; actually, this was a prerequisite to study any effects supposed to mitigate the myelotoxicity of 5-FU. A single 100 mg/kg dose of 5-FU reduced CFUc to undetectable levels (approximately <0.1% of the control) as early as 24h after the administration of 5-FU, whereas the nadirs for the cellularity and for ANC occurred later, namely on Day 4 and 6, respectively (Fig. 5.1). The earliest and deepest reduction in CFUc indicates that 5-FU was most toxic to these cells, and the lag period before the manifestation of neutropenia shows the lack of any significant damage to mature neutrophils. Clear signs of regeneration appeared first in CFUc, later in cellularity and even later in ANC. This can be interpreted in terms of a cell-renewal system, where both damage and regeneration occur first in the stem- and progenitor cells and only later in their progeny (Bond et al. 1965).

Administration of LV before 5-FU seemed to result in a slight enhancement of the myelotoxicity of 5-FU (Fig 5.1). This combination is frequently used in the clinical practice with the aim of selectively increasing the toxicity to tumor cells by prolonging the blockade of TS, which is probably mainly responsible for the effect of 5-FU in tumor cells but may play a less important role in normal cells (see *Chapter 2.2.1*). Although our results suggest that this selectivity is not absolute, they should not be interpreted as a counter-argument against the clinical use of the combination, the usefulness of which has been validated in the clinical practice. At any rate, the discussion of our further results shall be restricted to the mitigation of the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU, since this combination is widely used in the therapy of colorectal cancer and seems to be at least as myelotoxic in mice as 5-FU alone.

The toxic effects of 5-FU on normal cells, contrary to those on malignant cells, were suggested to be more dependent on the RNA-directed effects of 5-FU than on TS blockade. Actually, administration of U has been shown, mainly in preclinical experiments using 5-FU without LV, to provide some degree of protection to normal tissues including hematopoiesis (see *Chapter 2.2.2*). To our knowledge, no studies have dealt with the effect of such a "U-

rescue" after a combination of 5-FU with LV and on the main target of cytotoxic agents in the bone marrow: stem- and progenitor cells.

Our results clearly demonstrate that U can considerably mitigate the myelotoxicity of 5-FU even if 5-FU is combined with LV in order to enhance the inhibition of TS (Fig. 5.2). The most conspicuous effect of U was to increase both the frequency of CFUc and the CFUccontent of the femoral marrow from the earliest observations after the administration of LV+5-FU by at least an order of magnitude. The rate of the regeneration of the CFUccontent of the bone marrow, however, did not seem to be higher in the U-rescue group, as judged from the slopes of the two curves in Fig. 5.2C. U-associated changes in the other two variables (cellularity of bone marrow and ANC in the blood) corroborated the significant beneficial effect of this modulator.

From the shapes of the curves shown in Fig. 5.2, the most probable interpretation of these results is that U-rescue increased the survival of CFUc, and the higher number of surviving CFUc provided the basis for the earlier recovery of the cellularity of the bone marrow and of the ANC in the blood.

These results are in agreement with previous observations in colon 26 tumor bearing and in normal non-tumor bearing mice according to which U-rescue after 5-FU resulted in significant improvement in the leukocyte counts and the number of nucleated bone marrow cells, respectively (Martin et al. 1982, Klubes and Cerna 1983).

In our studies, daily administration of G-CSF after LV+5-FU was not associated with significant changes in the bone marrow as compared to the LV+5-FU group (Fig 5.3A, B and C). However, the ANC showed a less deep and earlier nadir as well as an earlier recovery to the control range (Fig5.3D), demonstrating that, as expected, G-CSF promoted the recovery from neutropenia. The apparent discrepancy between the conspicuous effect on ANC and minor effects, if any, on the cellularity and CFUc-content of bone marrow can be explained by the following considerations. CFUc in the bone marrow constitute a dividing transit-population, in which an increased output can compensate for the increased production of cells, resulting in a lack of change in the population size. In addition, the murine spleen is an important site of increased hematopoiesis in case of an increased demand induced e.g. by a cytotoxic agent, and such an increase is supported by the migration of progenitor cells from the bone marrow to the spleen. It is well known that G-CSF mobilizes stem cells and CFUc from the bone marrow to the peripheral blood and, in mice, G-CSF induces migration of stem- and progenitor cells from the bone marrow to the spleen. In fact, it was shown that

G-CSF administration without prior cytotoxic therapy *reduced* the number of stem- and progenitor cells in the bone marrow but concomitantly strong increases in the spleen were observed (de Haan et al. 1995).

As described above, U-rescue increased the survival of CFUc after LV+5-FU, whereas daily administration of G-CSF from Day 1 after the same cytotoxic treatment promoted the recovery from neutropenia without any conspicuous effect on the survival of



**Fig. 6.1.** Effect of the combination of U+G-CSF or UDPG+G-CSF on the myelotoxicity of LV+5-FU on the number of nucleated bone marrow cells per femur (cellularity) (A), on the number of colonies formed by  $10^5$  nucleated bone marrow cells (B), on the femoral CFUc content (C) and on the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) in the peripheral blood of mice (D). The limit of neutropenia was considered  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /l (shown as a dotted line on D).

CFUc. It was reasonable to suppose that the combination of a rescue agent capable of increasing the survival of progenitor cells with an agent stimulating granulocytopoiesis, such as G-CSF, would further improve the results. This was clearly demonstrated in our experiments (Fig. 5.4) showing that the combination of U and G-CSF was superior to either of these agents, since the improvement in the recovery of the bone marrow was accompanied by the mitigation of neutropenia surpassing the benefits of either of these agents.

The benefits of this combination are even more conspicuous, if compared to those observed after LV+5-FU without any of these protective agents (Fig. 6.1). In addition to the earlier regeneration of the bone marrow and a mitigation of neutropenia seen already after U-rescue without G-CSF (Fig. 5.2), this combination proved to be excellent in mitigating neutropenia (Fig. 6.1D): (i) The nadir of median ANC was raised from  $0.0085 \times 10^{9}$ /liter to  $0.316 \times 10^{9}$ /liter. (ii) At the nadir of the median ANC in the LV+5-FU group (Day 6), the prevalence of neutropenia<sup>3</sup> in the LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF group was only 11% (1/9) as compared to 89% (16/18) in the LV+5-FU group (p = 0.00017). (iii) The prevalence of neutropenia<sup>3</sup> was reduced by U+G-CSF even if compared at the respective nadirs of the median ANCs in the two groups: 47% (7/15, Day 4) versus 89% (16/18, Day 6, p = 0.0116). (iv) The median ANC in the LV+5-FU+U+G-CSF group was never below the limit of neutropenia, as compared to four days in the group treated with LV+5-FU.

As described in *Chapter 2.2.2*, the unwanted effects of U preclude its clinical application as a rescue agent, and, for this reason, prodrugs of U with a better safety profile are searched for. Among the suggested agents, UDPG seems to be particularly attractive because it is a licensed drug for clinical use in some countries and its safety profile seems to be better than that of U (Codacci-Pisanelli et al. 1997, Tognella 1992). This was the reason for which we tried to use UDPG as a rescue agent after LV+5-FU to substitute for U. Because of the limited availability of endotoxin-free UDPG in Hungary, these experiments had to be confined to a few points of time. The results (Fig 5.5 *Chapter 5.1.5*), however, are fully compatible with the hope that the benefits of UDPG as a rescue agent after LV+5-FU are quite similar to those observed with U and discussed in more detail in the previous paragraphs. This similarity includes the excellent synergism with G-CSF (Fig 5.6 and 6.1) supporting the hope that the combination of UDPG and G-CSF may be useful for mitigating neutropenia after 5-FU or LV+5-FU in clinical oncology. We think that our studies warrant further animal experiments and, if corroborated, suggest clinical trials. These trials would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>percentage of mice with ANC below  $0.3 \times 10^9$ /liter, the limit of neutropenia

involve two already licensed drugs: for UDPG (Toxepasi) the goal would be to find a new indication, whereas G-CSF (filgrastim, Neupogen) would be applied in its approved indication—but in combination with UDPG used in its new indication.

The possible use of 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EDU) as a modulator of 5-FU was supported by promising *in vivo* data against human colon tumor xenografts in mice (Kopper et al. 1984, Kralovánszky et al. 1999; see *Chapter 2.2.3*). Since there had been no available data on the effects of EDU on hematopoiesis and on the myelotoxicity of 5-FU, we performed experiments to fill this gap. Our studies included both single-dose and fractionated-dose schedules of EDU+5-FU combinations since, in the clinical practice, 5-FU is frequently given repeatedly at intervals of 24h or in continuous infusion lasting for a couple of days.

In our studies, EDU did not produce remarkable myelotoxicity when given alone, but it enhanced the myelotoxicity of 5-FU in all of the three dose-schedules studied (Fig. 5.8 and 5.9). This enhancement was particularly serious in the fractionated-schedule experiments, *i.e.*, if daily doses of 200 mg/kg EDU and 20 mg/kg FU were given for five consecutive days. Actually, all of the four hematological variables studied indicated that the damage to the bone marrow caused by 5x(200 mg/kg EDU+20 mg/kg 5-FU) was even more serious than that seen after a single 100 mg/kg dose of 5-FU, so that the bone-marrow sparing effect of fractionation was abolished by EDU (Fig. 5.7 and 5.9). Kralovánszky et al. (1999), who used the same dose-schedules, also observed that enhancement of the toxicity of 5-FU by EDU was more severe after repeated administration, albeit this observation was based only on loss of body weight. These authors observed that the increment in the antitumor effect (as measured by the growth delay factor) was much greater if EDU was added to the fractionated schedule than if it was used according to the single-dose schedule. Our results suggest that this effect of EDU in the fractionated-schedule is, unfortunately, not restricted to the tumor cells but includes non-malignant hematopoietic cells, too.

The strong enhancement of the myelotoxicity of 5-FU in the fractionated-dose experiments may have been the consequence of a combination of several factors. It should be taken into consideration that the total dose of EDU in the fractionated-dose experiments was  $5\times200 = 1000 \text{ mg/kg}$  of body weight, 2.5 times as high as the larger one of the single doses used in our experiments. Pharmacokinetic factors also might have contributed, as the repeatedly damaged and continuously regenerating bone marrow was subjected to a prolonged exposure to EDU. An accumulation of EDU seems to be improbable, as the half-

life of EDU in mice is about 15 minutes. On the other hand, some accumulation of ethyluracil, one of EDU's metabolites, is conceivable because its terminal half life is as long as 760 minutes (Kralovánszky et al. 1999). As ethyluracil is supposed to substantially contribute to the modulatory effect of EDU, mainly by inhibition of DPD, its prolonged presence may have been important. The pharmacokinetic data reported by Kralovánszky et al (1999) showed a prolongation and increase in the concentration of some of the active metabolites of 5-FU as a consequence of pretreatment with EDU.

The conspicuous difference in the toxicity-enhancing effect of EDU in the single-dose versus fractionated-dose experiments might be attributed also to cell-kinetic factors. We have to bear in mind that, during the five days of the fractionated doses, the bone marrow must be in active regeneration; this is supported by the strong sparing effect of the fractionated administration of 5-FU (Fig. 5.7). The regenerating bone marrow may be more sensitive to the 5-FU-potentiating effect of EDU. 5-FU is known to be more potent against rapidly proliferating than against normal bone marrow (Ogawa et al. 1973, Lohrmann and Schreml 1982). Pluripotent stem cells are resting under physiological conditions, and a single dose of 5-FU has a relatively moderate effect on the stem cell pool, whereas more primitive stem cells may be involved in the regeneration during repeated administration of 5-FU and probably this process is more sensitive to EDU than the regeneration after a single dose.

The survival of a whole mammalian organism during and after continuous or repeated low-dose exposure to ionizing radiation or cytotoxic drugs depends on the number and quality of surviving hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors, as well as on the rate at which they can proliferate to compensate for loss of cells (Kovács and Gidáli 2002). These changes in the stem cell compartments may be associated with an increased sensitivity to effects caused by modulating agents such as EDU.

In this context it seems relevant to mention the earlier studies in our laboratory which have shown that fractionated administration of some cytotoxic hexitol-derivatives, namely dibromodulcitol, dianhydrogalactitol as well as the diacetyl- and disuccinyl derivatives of the latter, clearly mitigated the damage to the bone marrow. However, the regeneration of the progenitor cell pool in the bone marrow was much slower after the fractionated doses than after single administration of the drugs, suggesting that repeated doses may disturb the steady-state of the stem-cell and progenitor-cell pool more profoundly (Hernádi et al. 1980, 1982 and 1987, Kovács et al. 1982a, 1982b, 1983, 1985, 1987 and 1992b).

Whatever was the cause of the serious enhancement of the myelotoxicity of 5-FU by EDU in the fractionated regimen, this finding of ours suggests that it would be prudent to be extremely cautious with the design and realization of any clinical trials in which EDU or similar modulators would be applied repeatedly.

# 6.2 Measurements of fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes with Laser Scanning Cytometry

The extensive metabolism, which is essential for both the activation and elimination of fluoropyrimidines, may provide opportunity for the prediction of the patients' response through the determination of various enzymes catalyzing these processes (e.g. TP and DPD). As described in *Chapter 2*, estimation of more than one of these enzymes may improve the predictive power of such tests. Furthermore, some data suggests that the histological distribution of some enzymes (e.g. DPD) might be also essential in determination the response to fluoropyrimidines. As discussed in *Chapter 2*, laser-scanning cytometry (or slide-based cytometry) offers the possibility for the simultaneous and quantitative estimation of multiple enzymes while preserving the histological structure of the tissues. Based on these observations, our main goal was to study the applicability of laser-scanning cytometry for quantitative multiparametric measurements of fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes (primarily TP and DPD) in archival tumor sections.

In our investigations – improvement of fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy through prediction of patients' response by measurement of metabolizing enzymes – the primary goal was to develop a method for direct measurement of the ratios of TP and DPD in sections of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue using the LSC. The currently available assays such as enzyme activity measurements, immunohistochemical analysis, quantitative PCR, or ELISA are not able to provide quantitative estimations of this ratio in sections from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tumor blocks, which are routinely used for clinical diagnoses.

One of the advantages of the LSC for this assay is that it is a microscope-based system and therefore ideal for use with tissue sections. Further, this instrument stores the X– Y location of each measured event and has the capability of relocating these events, so that slides can be re-stained for morphologic examination and the areas of interest readily found. In the past, detection of cells on slides was usually performed by contouring for the whole cell on the basis of forward light scatter or for the cell nucleus on the basis of a fluorescent

DNA dye. This contouring works best when individual cells are spatially well separated (e.g., cytospin preparations or cytology specimens), although it has been used in some studies on tissue sections (Gorczyca et al. 1998 and 2001, Hendricks 2001). For contouring epithelial tumor cells, use of a fluorescent DNA dye seems to be most suitable (Pollice et al. 2000). We used TO-PRO-3 in our initial studies with the cell lines because it is excited by the HeNe laser and its emission is detected in the long red channel. Thus, it was possible to simultaneously measure the fluorescence intensity of the Alexa 488 and 546, which are excited by the Ar-ion laser and are detected in the green and orange channels, respectively. However, because the excitation peak of Alexa 546 is far from the 488-nm wavelength of the Ar-ion laser, the absolute fluorescence intensity of Alexa 546 was relatively dim, resulting in a decreased signal-to-noise ratio and decreased accuracy.

We found it very difficult to contour cells in most tumor sections based on nuclear staining. This is because contouring on the nucleus and setting a fixed distance for the peripheral contour so that at least most of the cytoplasm of each cell could be included does not work well with the non-uniform distribution of nuclei in the cells and the general heterogeneity of cells in the sections. In our experience with epithelial tumor cell lines on cytocentrifuge preparations, increasing the cell density to greater than  $3x10^5$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> made the segmentation of single cells difficult. The recently described technique for the LSC, named "multiple thresholding" uses conventional propidium iodide contouring on cells of frozen human lymphatic tissue sections with scanning the same areas at five to eight different threshold levels and merging the data (Gerstner et al. 2004). However, such procedures work well for lymphatic tissues and other tissues in which the cells have relatively uniform size and spacing, but not for most cancer tissues in which the cells are very heterogeneous.

The phantom contouring feature of the LSC provides a stereologic approach to measure features of the sections. Stereology is a group of techniques for obtaining quantitative estimates of various parameters from tissue sections and is widely applied in neuromorphology. The basis of stereology is statistical sampling of the sections, and phantom contouring represents an ideal design-based, unbiased sampling protocol (Geuna 2000). Phantom contours are placed randomly on the scanned area in user-defined number, size, and density. The fluorescence data collected from each phantom contour are stored in a list mode file together with the positional information in the same way as cells contoured in the conventional manner. Using these data, it is possible to characterize the fluorescence of different areas on sections. This approach can provide much more accurate estimates of

fluorescence such as those obtained using method-based sampling, an example of which is standard contouring on nuclei, because it is based on assumptions about the regularity of cells that may not be true for all areas of the section being examined and therefore is a biased sampling technique.

Further, use of phantom contouring allowed us to switch from Alexa 546 to Alexa 647 for one of our secondary antibodies so that we could use separate lasers to excite each of our markers. The sequential measurement of the two fluorochromes resulted in an improved signal-to-noise ratio without the need for compensation. The order of TP and DPD levels and the TP/DPD ratios measured in the cell lines using the different staining and contouring methods were comparable with the exception of the MDA-MB-231 line. One factor that might influence differences between the two measurements is the use of Alexa 488 labeling, which is measured with the green filter; thus autofluorescence of the cells and tissues could influence the results. Our results are in good agreement with the enzyme activities and ratios measured in these cell lines previously (Ishikawa et al. 1998). The LSC measurements showed good correlation with the *in vitro* sensitivity of the cancer cell lines to 5'-DFUR. This functional correlation appears to validate the use of an immunoreactive protein as an indirect measurement for activity of these enzymes.

The absolute values of the measured immunofluorescence are dependent not only on the levels of the target proteins in the tissue sections but also on the staining conditions and instrument settings of the LSC. For the method to be useful with clinical specimens, it is important to have internal standards that will allow comparison between assays of different tissue samples. The use of sections of well-characterized cell lines mounted on the same slide with the investigational tissue sample provides such internal standards and improves the reliability of the measurements.

The quantitative measurement of TP, DPD, and their ratio in fixed tumor tissues makes it possible to perform retrospective studies to define selection criteria for patients who most probably will respond to capecitabine therapy. The advantage of this method for clinical studies is that it can be performed with materials that are taken and processed for diagnostic purposes. Other quantitative methods for measuring levels of these enzymes, such as PCR and ELISA, require that biopsy materials be snap frozen in liquid nitrogen or assayed immediately, whereas general clinical practice is to fix materials with formalin and embed in paraffin so that the tissue structure is preserved. The LSC can also be used with needle biopsy samples because very few cells are required for the analysis as has been demonstrated with the elegant immunophenotyping method of Clatch and Foreman (1998) for needle biopsy specimens of lymphomas.

Phantom contouring, although it provides more accurate measurement of fluorescence over the entire section, no longer provides direct cellular measurements as one can obtain with dispersed cells on cytocentrifuge slides. However, it is still possible to identify regions of interest such as those with the highest or lowest fluorescence ratios and relocate these areas after staining for morphologic assessment of the cellular composition. Thus, questions such as whether the enzymes are more highly expressed in tumor areas, stromal areas, or areas with infiltrating inflammatory cells can be addressed.

An additional advantage of this method that it is not restricted to the enzymes of the fluoropyrimidine pathway but can be used for any drug target/metabolic system where the key components are known and for which suitable antibodies are available. Obviously, to answer the question whether the measurement of TP/DPD ratio with this method is suitable for the prediction of patients' response to capecitabine or other fluoropyrimidine containing chemotherapeutic protocol it is essential that relatively large number of tissue measurements on archived material should be correlated with the outcome data of fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy.

# 6.3 Estimating the sensitivity of laser scanning cytometry for the detection of rare GFP positive cells in a GFP negative population

Flow cytometry makes possible the analysis of large number of cells in relatively short time which allows the more or less sensitive identification and separation of rare cells in a large population. However, as discussed earlier, the cells should be suspended in fluid which requires the destruction of the tissue structure and results in the loss of topological information; the relative position of the elements of a tissue *in vivo*. Although laser-scanning cytometry is not capable to analyze cells as fast as flow cytometry, the relocalization capability makes it very attractive for quantitative investigations where the spatial distribution of cells in a tissue seems to be an important factor (e.g. in homing of metastatic tumor cells). There are data suggesting differences between the characteristics of tumor cells in the primary tumor and in the metastasis with respect to the fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes which makes more problematic to predict the effect of adjuvant chemotherapy (Aschele et al. 2000). Studying the quantitative aspects of homing of tumor cells in relation

to the surrounding cellular environment might provide data to help in optimizing not only the fluoropyrimidine based chemotherapy of colorectal cancers and other solid tumors but also leukemias. However the first step of these investigations should be the determination of the sensitivity of laser-scanning cytometry for the detection of rare cells.

To assess the sensitivity of laser scanning cytometry for rare cell detection we used a GFP transgenic animal model. It was shown that minute amounts of blood is enough to quickly identify GFP +/- hemizygous mice with the LSC which is otherwise difficult by macroscopic means when hair covers the mice's body as the hair and red blood cells are not fluorescent. We found a small overlap between the fluorescence intensity histograms between the blood cells from GFP-/- and those from GFP+/- mice, which was due, in part, to green autofluorescence in the GFP-/- cells as well as to the heterogeneity in fluorescence intensities in the GFP+/- cells. The overlap between these populations might negatively influence the sensitivity of the method for rare cell detection, but the differences were such that discrimination between GFP positive and negative samples was unambiguous. Low number of GFP +/- cells were mixed with large number of GFP-/- cells and using the above described conditions we found an overall detection level of approximately 1:10<sup>4</sup> considering that the maximum number of cells on a cytospin area is approximately 10<sup>6</sup> cells.

This relative lack of sensitivity means that only the brightest GFP expressing cells are detected. The sensitivity can be increased by amplifying the GFP signal or by decreasing the autofluorescence. The GFP signal might be amplified by using *in situ* PCR amplification of the gene sequence or by using a specific antibody against GFP. Either approach could be performed with green fluorochrome labels to amplify the green signal, or with other colors to decrease the overlap with autofluorescence. However, the later approach would limit the number of other markers that could be used to phenotype the GFP positive cells. Another possibility for decreasing the background autofluorescence in fixed and permeabilized cells is pretreatment with trypan blue dye. We did some preliminary experiments with *in situ* trypan blue pretreatment of cells and saw a concentration-dependent decrease in autofluorescence, while the decrease in the specific fluorescence of the GFP+/- cells decreased in a lower extent (data not shown), suggesting the usefulness of this approach.

Even the achieved relatively low sensitivity might allow the detection of metastatic tumor cells in the bone marrow or other tissues and, at the same time, makes possible the *in situ* investigation of the quantitative relations to other fluorescent labeled markers.

## 7 SUMMARY

- 1. We studied the effect of some biochemical modulators on the myelotoxicity of 5fluorouracil (5-FU) in mice. To characterize the damage to and recovery of bone marrow, we estimated the cellularity and CFU-GM-content (granulocyte-macrophage progenitor cell) of the femoral marrow as well as neutrophil counts in the blood. 5-FU was used in combination with leucovorin (LV), an agent used in the clinical practice to enhance the cytotoxicity of 5-FU to tumor cells.
  - 1.1. Uridine (U) given after LV+5-FU significantly reduced the severe myelotoxicity of this combination as shown by all of the variables mentioned above. Uridine-diphospho-glucose (UDPG), an agent capable of increasing the plasma U level and possessing a better safety profile in humans than U, produced similar beneficial effects; the significance of this observation is emphasized by the availability of UDPG as a drug licensed for clinical use.
  - 1.2. Filgrastim, a G-CSF preparation, improved the recovery from neutropenia after LV+5-FU. A combination of U-rescue and filgrastim-treatment was more effective in counteracting the unwanted consequences of the highly myelotoxic combination of LV+5-FU than either U or filgrastim alone, almost completely eliminating the neutropenia induced by LV+5-FU; similar results were obtained if UDPG was substituted for U. Explanation: U potentiated the beneficial effect of filgrastim by increasing the number of progenitor cells surviving LV+5-FU and capable of responding to this cytokine. This warrants further studies and may contribute to the more effective clinical use of the combination of LV+5-FU.
  - 1.3. Ethyl-deoxyuridine (EDU) had been reported by other authors to potentiate the antitumor effects of 5-FU in mice. In our studies, it increased the myelotoxicity of 5-FU in mice, especially with fractionated 5-FU dosing, supporting the idea that this effect was mainly due to delaying the recovery of myeloid progenitor cells.
- 2. We developed a new method for the direct and quantitative measurement of the ratio of TP and DPD, two enzymes supposed to determine the sensitivity of cells to some

fluoropyrimidines, in tissue sections by means of a laser-scanning cytometer (LSC). Originally the LSC was developed for quantitative fluorescent measurements in well separated cells on slides but the high density of cells and the various relative positions of cells to the cutting plane in tissue sections makes individual cell detection and measurement very difficult and inaccurate. Thus in tissue sections we applied the phantom contouring feature of the LSC which is an unbiased stereologic approach and can provide much more accurate estimates of fluorescence intensities from the different microanatomical regions in the sections. This method opens up new vistas to test the idea how the simultaneous estimation of various marker enzymes or other proteins in histological samples of human tumors can contribute to the individualized use of antitumor drugs in general, and fluoropyrimidines in particular. Furthermore, our method can be applied for any drug target/metabolic system where the key components are known and for which suitable antibodies can be produced.

3. The above capabilities of LSC could be extended to study the homing of tumor cells, an early event in the formation of metastases, provided that the small minority of tumor cells could be readily identified among the overwhelming majority of normal cells. Green fluorescent protein (GFP) is a useful marker for tumor cells of various origin, so we established a method capable of detecting GFP-positive cells by LSC with a sensitivity of 1:10<sup>4</sup>. This sensitivity was reached by using a method which set the detection threshold above the highest fluorescence level detected in the GFP negative cell population and very specifically discriminates the GFP positive from the GFP negative cells which also show relatively high autofluorescence in the detection channel. Even this relatively low sensitivity is good for detection of GFP-labeled cells and at the same time quantitative measurements of multiple interesting markers in preserved anatomical structures which is not possible with other currently available methods. The combination of the identification of rare tumor cells with the capability of LSC to quantitatively estimate the amount of other labeled markers in the identified tumor cells or in surrounding cells seems to be a promising way of studying the homing of cells.

#### 8 **REFERENCES**

- Akiyama, S., Furukawa, T., Sumizawa, T., Takebayashi, Y., Nakajima, Y., Shimaoka, S. & Haraguchi, M. (2004) The role of thymidine phosphorylase, an angiogenic enzyme, in tumor progression. *Cancer Sci*, 95, 851-857.
- Al Safarjalani, O. N., Zhou, X. J., Rais, R. H., Shi, J., Schinazi, R. F., Naguib, F. N. & El Kouni, M. H. (2005) 5-(Phenylthio)acyclouridine: a powerful enhancer of oral uridine bioavailability: relevance to chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil and other uridine rescue regimens. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 55, 541-551.
- Al Safarjalani, O. N., Rais, R., Shi, J., Schinazi, R. F., Naguib, F. N. & El Kouni, M. H. (2006) Modulation of 5-fluorouracil host-toxicity and chemotherapeutic efficacy against human colon tumors by 5-(Phenylthio)acyclouridine, a uridine phosphorylase inhibitor. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, in press, DOI 10.1007/s00280-00006-00213-x.
- Allegra, C. J., Paik, S., Colangelo, L. H., Parr, A. L., Kirsch, I., Kim, G., Klein, P., Johnston, P. G., Wolmark, N. & Wieand, H. S. (2003) Prognostic value of thymidylate synthase, Ki-67, and p53 in patients with Dukes' B and C colon cancer: A national cancer institute-national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project collaborative study. J Clin Oncol, 21, 241-250.
- Andre, T., Boni, C., Mounedji-Boudiaf, L., Navarro, M., Tabernero, J., Hickish, T., Topham, C., Zaninelli, M., Clingan, P., Bridgewater, J., Tabah-Fisch, I. & De Gramont, A. (2004) Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 2343-2351.
- Anonymous (1992) Modulation of fluorouracil by leucovorin in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: evidence in terms of response rate. Advanced Colorectal Cancer Meta-Analysis Project. J Clin Oncol, 10, 896-903.
- Aschele, C., Debernardis, D., Casazza, S., Antonelli, G., Tunesi, G., Baldo, C., Lionetto, R., Maley, F. & Sobrero, A. (1999) Immunohistochemical quantitation of thymidylate synthase expression in colorectal cancer metastases predicts for clinical outcome to fluorouracil-based chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol*, 17, 1760-1770.
- Aschele, C., Debernardis, D., Tunesi, G., Maley, F. & Sobrero, A. (2000) Thymidylate synthase protein expression in primary colorectal cancer compared with the corresponding distant metastases and relationship with the clinical response to 5fluorouracil. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 6, 4797-4802.
- Beck, A., Etienne, M. C., Cheradame, S., Fischel, J. L., Formento, P., Renee, N. & Milano, G. (1994) A role for dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase and thymidylate synthase in tumour sensitivity to fluorouracil. *Eur J Cancer*, 30A, 1517-1522.
- Blijham, G. H. (2003) The development of oral UFT with and without leucovorin. IN Rustum, Y. M. (Ed.) *Fluoropyrimidines in cancer therapy*. Totowa, New Jersey, Humana Press. 219-228.

- Bond, V. P., Fliedner, T. M. & Archambeu, J. O. (1965) *Mammalian radiation lethality: A disturbance in cellular kinetics*, New York, Academic Press.
- Bradley, T. R. & Metcalf, D. (1966) The growth of mouse bone marrow cells in vitro. *Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci*, 44, 287-299.
- Carmichael, J., Popiela, T., Radstone, D., Falk, S., Borner, M., Oza, A., Skovsgaard, T., Munier, S. & Martin, C. (2002) Randomized comparative study of tegafur/uracil and oral leucovorin versus parenteral fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol, 20, 3617-3627.
- Cascinu, S., Aschele, C., Barni, S., Debernardis, D., Baldo, C., Tunesi, G., Catalano, V., Staccioli, M. P., Brenna, A., Muretto, P. & Catalano, G. (1999) Thymidylate synthase protein expression in advanced colon cancer: Correlation with the site of metastasis and the clinical response to leucovorin-modulated bolus 5-fluorouracil. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 5, 1996-1999.
- Chabner, B. A., Ryan, D. P., Paz-Areg, L., Garcia-Carbonero, R. & Calabresi, P. (2001) Antineoplastic agents. IN Hardman, J. G., Limbird, L. E. & Goodman Gilman, A. (Eds.) Goodman and Gilman's The pharmacological basis of therapeutics. New York, McGraw-Hill. 1389-1459.
- Chabner, B. A., Amrein, P. C., Druker, B. J., Michaelson, M. D., Mitsiades, C. S., Goss, P. E., Ryan, D. P., Ramachandra, S., Richardson, P. G., Supko, J. G. & Wilson, W. H. (2005) Antineoplastic agents. IN Brunton, L. L., Lazo, J. S. & Parker, K. L. (Eds.) *Goodman and Gilman's The pharmacological basis of therapeutics*. 11th ed. New York, McGraw-Hill. 1315-1403.
- Chalfie, M., Tu, Y., Euskirchen, G., Ward, W. W. & Prasher, D. C. (1994) Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. *Science*, 263, 802-805.
- Cheng, L., Fu, J., Tsukamoto, A. & Hawley, R. G. (1996) Use of green fluorescent protein variants to monitor gene transfer and expression in mammalian cells. *Nat Biotechnol*, 14, 606-609.
- Cheng, L., Du, C., Murray, D., Tong, X., Zhang, Y. A., Chen, B. P. & Hawley, R. G. (1997) A GFP reporter system to assess gene transfer and expression in human hematopoietic progenitor cells. *Gene Ther*, 4, 1013-1022.
- Ciccolini, J., Evrard, A. & Cuq, P. (2004) Thymidine phosphorylase and fluoropyrimidines efficacy: a Jekyl and Hyde story. *Curr Med Chem Anti-Canc Agents*, 4, 71-81.
- Clatch, R. J. & Foreman, J. R. (1998) Five-color immunophenotyping plus DNA content analysis by laser scanning cytometry. *Cytometry*, 34, 36-38.
- Codacci-Pisanelli, G., Van Der Wilt, C. L., Pinedo, H. M., Franchi, F., Noordhuis, P., Braakhuis, B. J., Van Laar, J. A. & Peters, G. J. (1995) Antitumour activity, toxicity and inhibition of thymidylate synthase of prolonged administration of 5-fluorouracil in mice. *Eur J Cancer*, 31A, 1517-1525.
- Codacci-Pisanelli, G., Kralovanszky, J., Vanderwilt, C. L., Noordhuis, P., Colofiore, J. R., Martin, D. S., Franchi, F. & Peters, G. J. (1997) Modulation of 5-fluorouracil in mice using uridine diphosphoglucose. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 3, 309-315.

- Cody, C. W., Prasher, D. C., Westler, W. M., Prendergast, F. G. & Ward, W. W. (1993) Chemical structure of the hexapeptide chromophore of the Aequorea greenfluorescent protein. *Biochemistry*, 32, 1212-1218.
- Colofiore, J. R., Sawyer, R. C., Balis, M. E. & Martin, D. S. (1989) Effect of uridine diphosphoglucose on levels of 5-phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate and uridine triphosphate in murine tissues. *Pharm Res*, 6, 863-866.
- Connolly, G. P. & Duley, J. A. (1999) Uridine and its nucleotides: biological actions, therapeutic potentials. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 20, 218-225.
- Conover, W. J. (1980) Practical non-parametric statistics, New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- Cradock, J. C., Vishnuvajjala, B. R., Chin, T. F., Hochstein, H. D. & Ackerman, S. K. (1986) Uridine-induced hyperthermia in the rabbit. *J Pharm Pharmacol*, 38, 226-229.
- Crawford, J., Ozer, H., Stoller, R., Johnson, D., Lyman, G., Tabbara, I., Kris, M., Grous, J., Picozzi, V., Rausch, G. & Et Al. (1991) Reduction by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor of fever and neutropenia induced by chemotherapy in patients with small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med, 325, 164-170.
- Danesi, R., De Braud, F., Fogli, S., Di Paolo, A. & Del Tacca, M. (2001) Pharmacogenetic determinants of anti-cancer drug activity and toxicity. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 22, 420-426.
- Darzynkiewicz, Z., Bedner, E., Li, X., Gorczyca, W. & Melamed, M. R. (1999) Laserscanning cytometry: A new instrumentation with many applications. *Exp Cell Res*, 249, 1-12.
- Davies, M. M., Johnston, P. G., Kaur, S. & Allen-Mersh, T. G. (1999) Colorectal liver metastasis thymidylate synthase staining correlates with response to hepatic arterial floxuridine. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 5, 325-328.
- De Bruin, M., Van Capel, T., Van Der Born, K., Kruyt, F. A., Fukushinna, M., Hoekman, K., Pinedo, H. M. & Peters, G. J. (2003) Role of platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor/thymidine phosphorylase in fluoropyrimidine sensitivity. *British Journal of Cancer*, 88, 957-964.
- De Haan, G., Dontje, B., Engel, C., Loeffler, M. & Nijhof, W. (1995) The kinetics of murine hematopoietic stem cells in vivo in response to prolonged increased mature blood cell production induced by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Blood*, 86, 2986-2992.
- Douillard, J. Y., Hoff, P. M., Skillings, J. R., Eisenberg, P., Davidson, N., Harper, P., Vincent, M. D., Lembersky, B. C., Thompson, S., Maniero, A. & Benner, S. E. (2002) Multicenter phase III study of uracil/tegafur and oral leucovorin versus fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol, 20, 3605-3616.
- Dunn, O. J. (1964) Multiple comparisons using rank sums. Technometrics, 6, 241-252.
- Edler, D., Glimelius, B., Hallstrom, M., Jakobsen, A., Johnston, P. G., Magnusson, I., Ragnhammar, P. & Blomgren, H. (2002) Thymidylate synthase expression in colorectal cancer: A prognostic and predictive marker of benefit from adjuvant fluorouracil-based chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol*, 20, 1721-1728.

- Eliason, J. F., Ramuz, H. & Kaufmann, F. (1990) Human multi-drug-resistant cancer cells exhibit a high degree of selectivity for stereoisomers of verapamil and quinidine. *Int J Cancer*, 46, 113-117.
- Emura, T., Murakami, Y., Nakagawa, F., Fukushima, M. & Kitazato, K. (2004a) A novel antimetabolite, TAS-102 retains its effect on FU-related resistant cancer cells. *Int J Mol Med*, 13, 545-549.
- Emura, T., Suzuki, N., Yamaguchi, M., Ohshimo, H. & Fukushima, M. (2004b) A novel combination antimetabolite, TAS-102, exhibits antitumor activity in FU-resistant human cancer cells through a mechanism involving FTD incorporation in DNA. *Int J Oncol*, 25, 571-578.
- Emura, T., Suzuki, N., Fujioka, A., Ohshimo, H. & Fukushima, M. (2005) Potentiation of the antitumor activity of alpha, alpha, alpha-trifluorothymidine by the co-administration of an inhibitor of thymidine phosphorylase at a suitable molar ratio in vivo. *Int J Oncol*, 27, 449-455.
- Ezzeldin, H. & Diasio, R. (2004) Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency, a pharmacogenetic syndrome associated with potentially life-threatening toxicity following 5-fluorouracil administration. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 4, 181-189.
- Feilmeier, B. J., Iseminger, G., Schroeder, D., Webber, H. & Phillips, G. J. (2000) Green fluorescent protein functions as a reporter for protein localization in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol*, 182, 4068-4076.
- Findlay, M. P. N., Cunningham, D., Morgan, G., Clinton, S., Hardcastle, A. & Aherne, G. W. (1997) Lack of correlation between thymidylate synthase levels in primary colorectal tumours and subsequent response to chemotherapy. *British Journal of Cancer*, 75, 903-909.
- Fox, S. B., Engels, K., Comley, M., Whitehouse, R. M., Turley, H., Gatter, K. C. & Harris, A. L. (1997) Relationship of elevated tumour thymidine phosphorylase in nodepositive breast carcinomas to the effects of adjuvant CMF. *Annals of Oncology*, 8, 271-275.
- Gauri, K. K. (1981) Cytostatic potential of alkyl-deoxyuridines. IN Gauri, K. K. (Ed.) Antiviral chemotherapy. Design of inhibitors of viral functions. New York, Academic Press. 235-248.
- Gerstner, A. O., Trumpfheller, C., Racz, P., Osmancik, P., Tenner-Racz, K. & Tarnok, A. (2004) Quantitative histology by multicolor slide-based cytometry. *Cytometry A*, 59, 210-219.
- Geuna, S. (2000) Appreciating the difference between design-based and model-based sampling strategies in quantitative morphology of the nervous system. *J Comp Neurol*, 427, 333-339.
- Ghoshal, K. & Jacob, S. T. (1994) Specific-Inhibition of Pre-Ribosomal-Rna Processing in Extracts from the Lymphosarcoma Cells Treated with 5-Fluorouracil. *Cancer Research*, 54, 632-636.

- Glazer, R. I. & Lloyd, L. S. (1982) Association of Cell Lethality with Incorporation of 5-Fluorouracil and 5-Fluorouridine into Nuclear-Rna in Human-Colon Carcinoma-Cells in Culture. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 21, 468-473.
- Gorczyca, W., Bedner, E., Burfeind, P., Darzynkiewicz, Z. & Melamed, M. R. (1998) Analysis of apoptosis in solid tumors by laser-scanning cytometry. *Mod Pathol*, 11, 1052-1058.
- Gorczyca, W., Deptala, A., Bedner, E., Li, X., Melamed, M. R. & Darzynkiewicz, Z. (2001) Analysis of human tumors by laser scanning cytometry. *Methods Cell Biol*, 64, 421-443.
- Grace, M. J., Xie, L., Musco, M. L., Cui, S., Gurnani, M., Digiacomo, R., Chang, A., Indelicato, S., Syed, J., Johnson, R. & Nielsen, L. L. (1999) The use of laser scanning cytometry to assess depth of penetration of adenovirus p53 gene therapy in human xenograft biopsies. *Am J Pathol*, 155, 1869-1878.
- Grem, J. L. (2000) 5-Fluorouracil: forty-plus and still ticking. A review of its preclinical and clinical development. *Invest New Drugs*, 18, 299-313.
- Grem, J. L. (2005) Intratumoral molecular or genetic markers as predictors of clinical outcome with chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. *Seminars in Oncology*, 32, 120-127.
- Haraguchi, M., Tsujimoto, H., Fukushima, M., Higuchi, I., Kuribayashi, H., Utsumi, H., Nakayama, A., Hashizume, Y., Hirato, J., Yoshida, H., Hara, H., Hamano, S., Kawaguchi, H., Furukawa, T., Miyazono, K., Ishikawa, F., Toyoshima, H., Kaname, T., Komatsu, M., Chen, Z. S., Gotanda, T., Tachiwada, T., Sumizawa, T., Miyadera, K., Osame, M., Noda, T., Yamada, Y. & Akiyama, S. (2002) Targeted deletion of both thymidine phosphorylase and uridine phosphorylase and consequent disorders in mice. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22, 5212-5221.
- Hendricks, J. B. (2001) Quantitative histology by laser scanning cytometry. *Journal of Histotechnology*, 24, 59-62.
- Hernádi, F., Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Kerpel-Fronius, S. & Somfai- Relle, S. (1980) Effect of repeated doses of dianhydrogalactitol on murine bone marrow colony-forming units in culture. IN Nelson, J. D. & Grassi, C. (Eds.) *Current chemotherapy and infectious disease*. Washington, Amer. Soc. Microbiol., vol. 2. 1608-1609.
- Hernádi, F., Ujj, G., Kovács, P., Kerpel-Fronius, S. & Somfai- Relle, S. (1982) Effect of dibromodulcitol on murine granulocyte- macrophage colony-forming cells. IN Periti, P. & Grassi, G. G. (Eds.) *Current chemotherapy and immunotherapy*. Washington, Amer. Soc. Microbiol., vol. 2. 1301-1302.
- Hernádi, F., Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Juhász, L. E. & Institóris, L. (1987) Comparison of the effects of single and repeated doses of disuccinyl-dianhydrogalactitol on murine haematopoiesis. IN Berkarda, B. & Kuemmerle, H.-P. (Eds.) *Progress in Chemotherapy, Anticancer Section.* Landsberg, FRG., Ecomed Verlagsges., vol. 3. 276-278.

- Hidalgo, M., Villalona-Calero, M. A., Eckhardt, S. G., Drengler, R. L., Rodriguez, G., Hammond, L. A., Diab, S. G., Weiss, G., Garner, A. M., Campbell, E., Davidson, K., Louie, A., O'neil, J. D., Von Borstel, R., Von Hoff, D. D. & Rowinsky, E. K. (2000) Phase I and pharmacologic study of PN401 and fluorouracil in patients with advanced solid malignancies. *J Clin Oncol*, 18, 167-177.
- Hirano, Y., Takayama, T., Kageyama, S., Ushiyama, T., Suzuki, K. & Fujita, K. (2002) Thymidine phosphorylase activity in renal cell carcinoma: Relationship between histological parameters and chemosensitivity to fluorouracil-related drugs. Urological Research, 30, 112-115.
- Hirano, Y., Takayama, T., Kageyama, S., Ushiyama, T., Suzuki, K. & Fujita, K. (2003) Thymidine phosphorylase and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in renal cell carcinoma: Relationship between histological parameters and chemosensitivity to 5fluorouracil. *European Urology*, 43, 45-51.
- Hoffman, R. M. (2002) Green fluorescent protein imaging of tumor cells in mice. *Lab Anim* (*NY*), 31, 34-41.
- Iacopetta, B., Grieu, F., Joseph, D. & Elsaleh, H. (2001) A polymorphism in the enhancer region of the thymidylate synthase promoter influences the survival of colorectal cancer patients treated with 5-fluorouracil. *British Journal of Cancer*, 85, 827-830.
- Ishii, R., Takiguchi, N., Oda, K., Koda, K. & Miyazaki, M. (2001) Thymidine phosphorylase expression is useful in selecting adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III gastric cancer. *International Journal of Oncology*, 19, 717-722.
- Ishikawa, T., Sekiguchi, F., Fukase, Y., Sawada, N. & Ishitsuka, H. (1998) Positive correlation between the efficacy of capecitabine and doxifluridine and the ratio of thymidine phosphorylase to dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activities in tumors in human cancer xenografts. *Cancer Research*, 58, 685-690.
- Ishikawa, Y., Kubota, T., Otani, Y., Watanabe, M., Teramoto, T., Kumai, K., Kitajima, M., Takechi, T., Okabe, H. & Fukushima, M. (1999) Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity and messenger RNA level may be related to the antitumor effect of 5fluorouracil on human tumor xenografts in nude mice. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 5, 883-889.
- Jaggi, M., Rao, P. S., Smith, D. J., Wheelock, M. J., Johnson, K. R., Hemstreet, G. P. & Balaji, K. C. (2005) E-cadherin phosphorylation by protein kinase D1/protein kinase C{mu} is associated with altered cellular aggregation and motility in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res*, 65, 483-492.
- Jakob, C., Aust, D. E., Meyer, W., Baretton, G. B., Schwabe, W., Hausler, P., Becker, H. & Liersch, T. (2004) Thymidylate synthase, thymidine phosphorylase, dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase expression, and histological tumour regression after 5-FU-based neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer. *Journal of Pathology*, 204, 562-568.
- Jeney, A., Barrie, S. E., Taylor, G. A., Newell, D. R., Harrap, K. R., Szabolcs, A., Lapis, K. & Otvos, L. (1986) 5-Ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine: an explanation for its lack of cytotoxic action in vivo. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol*, 22, 557-562.

- Johnston, P. G., Lenz, H. J., Leichman, C. G., Danenberg, K. D., Allegra, C. J., Danenberg, P. V. & Leichman, L. (1995) Thymidylate Synthase Gene and Protein Expression Correlate and Are Associated with Response to 5-Fluorouracil in Human Colorectal and Gastric Tumors. *Cancer Research*, 55, 1407-1412.
- Kamentsky, L. A. & Kamentsky, L. D. (1991) Microscope-Based Multiparameter Laser Scanning Cytometer Yielding Data Comparable to Flow-Cytometry Data. *Cytometry*, 12, 381-387.
- Kamentsky, L. A., Burger, D. E., Gershman, R. J., Kamentsky, L. D. & Luther, E. (1997) Slide-based laser scanning cytometry. *Acta Cytol*, 41, 123-143.
- Kamentsky, L. A. (2001) Laser scanning cytometry. *Methods in Cell Biology, Vol 63.* San Diego, ACADEMIC PRESS INC. 63 51-87.
- Kanamaru, R., Kakuta, H., Sato, T., Ishioka, C. & Wakui, A. (1986) The Inhibitory Effects of 5-Fluorouracil on the Metabolism of Preribosomal and Ribosomal-Rna in L-1210 Cells-Invitro. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 17, 43-46.
- Katona, C., Timar, F., Jeney, A., Fischel, J. L., Milano, G., Pandi, E. & Kralovanszky, J. (1999) Modulation of 5-fluorouracil by 5-ethyl-2 '-deoxyuridine on cell lines expressing different dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activities. *Anti-Cancer Drugs*, 10, 561-567.
- Katona, C., Timar, F., Olah, J., Bocsi, J., Budai, B., Otvos, L. & Kralovanszky, J. (2004) [Potentiation of 5-fluorouracil efficacy. Molecular mechanisms playing a role in the cytotoxic action of 5-fluorouracil and 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EUdR) combination]. *Magy Onkol*, 48, 243-251.
- Kawasaki, M., Sasaki, K., Satoh, T., Kurose, A., Kamada, T., Furuya, T., Murakami, T. & Todoroki, T. (1997) Laser scanning cytometry (LCS) allows detailed analysis of the cell cycle in PI stained human fibroblasts (TIG-7). *Cell Prolif*, 30, 139-147.
- Kelsen, D. P., Martin, D., Oneil, J., Schwartz, G., Saltz, L., Sung, M. T., Vonborstel, R. & Bertino, J. (1997) Phase I trial of PN401, an oral prodrug of uridine, to prevent toxicity from fluorouracil in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol, 15, 1511-1517.
- Klubes, P. & Cerna, I. (1983) Use of uridine rescue to enhance the antitumor selectivity of 5fluorouracil. *Cancer Res*, 43, 3182-3186.
- Kobayashi, H., Koike, T., Nakatsuka, A., Kurita, H., Sagara, J., Taniguchi, S. & Kurashina, K. (2005) Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase expression predicts survival outcome and chemosensitivity to 5-fluorouracil in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol*, 41, 38-47.
- Koizumi, W., Saigenji, K., Nakamaru, N., Okayasu, I. & Kurihara, M. (1999) Prediction of response to 5 '-deoxy-5-fluorouridine (5 '-DFUR) in patients with inoperable advanced gastric cancer by immunostaining of thymidine phosphorylase plateletderived endothelial cell growth factor. *Oncology*, 56, 215-222.
- Kopper, L., Magyarosy, E., Jeney, A., Lapis, K., Szabolcs, A. & Otvos, L. (1984) Potentiation of the antitumor action of 5-fluorouracil with 5-ethyl-2'-deoxyuridine in human colorectal tumor xenografts. *Oncology*, 41, 155-158.

- Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Institóris, L., Institóris, L., Jr. & Hernádi, F. (1982a) Effect of diacetyldianhydrogalactitol on murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming cells. IN Periti, P. & Grassi, G. G. (Eds.) *Current chemotherapy and immunotherapy*. Washington, Amer. Soc. Microbiol., vol. 2. 1303-1304.
- Kovács, P. (1982b) Dibromodulcitol: effects on hemopoiesis. IN Eckhardt, S. (Ed.) Dibromodulcitol. Budapest, Medicina. 42-53.
- Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Hernádi, F., Institóris, L. & Kerpel- Fronius, S. (1983) Effect of repeated doses of dibromodulcitol on murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming cells. IN Spitzy, J. H. & Karrer, K. (Eds.) *Proc. 13th Int. Congress of Chemotherapy*. Vienna, Verlag H. Egermann. part 284. 173-176.
- Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Institóris, L. J., Hernádi, F., Kerpel-Fronius, S., Institóris, L. & Somfai-Relle, S. (1985) Effect of some cytostatic galactitol derivatives on murine granulocyte- macrophage progenitor cells. IN Eckhardt, S. & Kerpel-Fronius, S. (Eds.) CMEA Chemotherapy Symposium 1984. Budapest, Akadémiai Kiadó. 369-375.
- Kovács, P., Ujj, G., Institóris, L., Jr., Juhász, L. E., Hernádi, F., Kerpel-Fronius, S., Institóris, L. & Somfai-Relle, S. (1987) Comparison of the effects of four cytostatic galactitol derivatives on murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming units. IN Lapis, K. & Eckhardt, S. (Eds.) *Novel approaches in cancer therapy*. Basel/Budapest, Karger/Akadémiai Kiadó. 173-180.
- Kovács, P., Benkő, I., Hernádi, F., Jeney, A. & Kralovánszky, J. (1992a) Effect of combinations of 5 fluorouracil, uridine and leucovorin on murine bone marrow "Colony Forming Units in culture" (CFUc). *Pharmacol Res*, 25S2, 308-309.
- Kovács, P., Benkő, I., Hernádi, F. & Institóris, L. (1992b) Damage and regeneration of bone marrow in mice given single or repeated doses of disuccinyl-dianhydrogalactitol (DisuDAG). IN Adam, D., Büchner, T. & Rubinstein, E. (Eds.) *Recent Advances in Chemotherapy*. Munich, Futuramed Verlagsges., 2630-2631.
- Kovács, P. & Gidáli, J. (2002) Common denominators for tolerance and failure of the organism following chronic radiation exposure. *Brit. J. Radiology*, Suppl. 26, 128-130.
- Kralovánszky, J., Katona, C., Jeney, A., Pandi, E., Noordhuis, P., Erdelyi-Toth, V., Otvos, L., Kovacs, P., Van Der Wilt, C. L. & Peters, G. J. (1999) 5-ethyl-2 '-deoxyuridine, a modulator of both antitumour action and pharmacokinetics of 5-fluorouracil. *Journal* of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology, 125, 675-684.
- Kralovánszky, J., Köves, I., Orosz, Z., Katona, C., Tóth, K., Ráhoty, P., Czeglédi, F., Kovács, T., Budai, B., Hullan, L. & Jeney, A. (2002) Prognostic significance of the thymidylate biosynthetic enzymes in human colorectal tumors. *Oncology*, 62, 167-174.
- Kufe, D. W. & Major, P. P. (1981) 5-Fluorouracil Incorporation into Human-Breast Carcinoma Rna Correlates with Cyto-Toxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 256, 9802-9805.

- Labianca, R., Pessi, A., Facendola, G., Pirovano, M. & Luporini, G. (1996) Modulated 5fluorouracil (5-FU) regimens in advanced colorectal cancer: a critical review of comparative studies. *Eur J Cancer*, 32A Suppl 5, S7-12.
- Leyva, A., Van Groeningen, C. J., Kraal, I., Gall, H., Peters, G. J., Lankelma, J. & Pinedo, H. M. (1984) Phase I and pharmacokinetic studies of high-dose uridine intended for rescue from 5-fluorouracil toxicity. *Cancer Res*, 44, 5928-5933.
- Lohrmann, H.-P. & Schreml, W. (1982) Cytotoxic drugs and the granulopoietic system, Berlin, Springer - Verlag.
- Longley, D. B., Harkin, D. P. & Johnston, P. G. (2003) 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 3, 330-338.
- Lönn, U. & Lönn, S. (1988) Increased Growth-Inhibition and DNA Lesions in Human-Colon Adenocarcinoma Cells Treated with Methotrexate or 5-Fluoro-Deoxyuridine Followed by Calmodulin Inhibitors. *Cancer Research*, 48, 3319-3323.
- Luther, E. & Kamentsky, L. A. (1997) Applications of laser scanning cytometry to studies of the cell cycle. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 72, 87-87.
- Luther, E. & Kamentsky, L. A. (2002) Phantom contours and secondary segmentation in LSC analysis. *Cytometry*, 61-61.
- Mackler, A. M., Green, L. M., Mcmillan, P. J. & Yellon, S. M. (2000) Distribution and activation of uterine mononuclear phagocytes in peripartum endometrium and myometrium of the mouse. *Biol Reprod*, 62, 1193-1200.
- Marchetti, S., Chazal, M., Dubreuil, A., Fischell, J. L., Etienne, M. C. & Milano, G. (2001) Impact of thymidine phosphorylase surexpression on fluoropyrimidine activity and on tumour angiogenesis. *British Journal of Cancer*, 85, 439-445.
- Martin, D. S., Stolfi, R. L., Sawyer, R. C., Spiegelman, S. & Young, C. W. (1982) High-dose 5-fluorouracil with delayed uridine "rescue" in mice. *Cancer Res*, 42, 3964-3970.
- Mertelsmann, R. & Herrmann, F. (1994) *Hematopoietic growth factors in clinical applications*, New York, Marcel Dekker.
- Metcalf, D. (1977) *Hemopoietic colonies: In vitro cloning of normal and leukemic cells,* Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Metcalf, D. (1984) The hemopoietic colony stimulating factors, Amsterdam, Elsevier.
- Metzger, R., Danenberg, K., Leichman, C. G., Salonga, D., Schwartz, E. L., Wadler, S., Lenz, H. J., Groshen, S., Leichman, L. & Danenberg, P. V. (1998) High basal level gene expression of thymidine phosphorylase (platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor) in colorectal tumors is associated with nonresponse to 5-fluorouracil. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 4, 2371-2376.
- Milano, G., Ferrero, J. M. & Francois, E. (2004) Comparative pharmacology of oral fluoropyrimidines: a focus on pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and pharmacomodulation. *Br J Cancer*, 91, 613-617.
- Milano, G. & Schellens, J. H. M. (2005) Pyrimidine antimetabolites. IN Schellens, J. H. M., Mcleod, H. L. & Newell, D. R. (Eds.) *Cancer clinical Pharmacology*. Oxford University Press. 51-62.

- Miwa, M., Ura, M., Nishida, M., Sawada, N., Ishikawa, T., Mori, K., Shimma, N., Umeda, I. & Ishitsuka, H. (1998) Design of a novel oral fluoropyrimidine carbamate, capecitabine, which generates 5-fluorouracil selectively in tumours by enzymes concentrated in human liver and cancer tissue. *European Journal of Cancer*, 34, 1274-1281.
- Mook, O. R., Van Marle, J., Vreeling-Sindelarova, H., Jonges, R., Frederiks, W. M. & Van Noorden, C. J. (2003) Visualization of early events in tumor formation of eGFPtransfected rat colon cancer cells in liver. *Hepatology*, 38, 295-304.
- Mori, K., Hasegawa, M., Nishida, M., Toma, H., Fukuda, M., Kubota, T., Nagasue, N., Yamana, H., Chung, K. H. Y., Ikeda, T., Takasaki, K., Oka, M., Kameyama, M., Toi, M., Fujii, H., Kitamura, M., Murai, M., Sasaki, H., Ozono, S., Makuuchi, H., Shimada, Y., Onishi, Y., Aoyagi, S., Mizutani, K., Ogawa, M., Nakao, A., Kinoshita, H., Tono, T., Imamoto, H., Nakashima, Y. & Manabe, T. (2000) Expression levels of thymidine phosphorylase and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in various human tumor tissues. *International Journal of Oncology*, 17, 33-38.
- Morstyn, G. & Dexter, T. M. (1994) *Filgrastim (r-metHuG-CSF) in clinical practice*, New York, Marcel Dekker.
- Motulsky, H. (2003) *GraphPad Prism Statistical Guide*, San Diego, CA, U.S.A., GraphPad Software Inc.
- Nadal, J. C., Van Groeningen, C. J., Pinedo, H. M. & Peters, G. J. (1989) Scheduledependency of in vivo modulation of 5-fluorouracil by leucovorin and uridine in murine colon carcinoma. *Invest New Drugs*, 7, 163-172.
- Nakajima, Y., Gotanda, T., Uchimiya, H., Furukawa, T., Haraguchi, M., Ikeda, R., Sumizawa, T., Yoshida, H. & Akiyama, S. (2004) Inhibition of metastasis of tumor cells overexpressing thymidine phosphorylase by 2-deoxy-L-ribose. *Cancer Res*, 64, 1794-1801.
- Nishina, T., Hyodo, I., Miyaike, J., Inaba, T., Suzuki, S. & Shiratori, Y. (2004) The ratio of thymidine phosphorylase to dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in tumour tissues of patients with metastatic gastric cancer is predictive of the clinical response to 5'deoxy-5-fluorouridine. *Eur J Cancer*, 40, 1566-1571.
- Nita, M. E., Tominaga, O., Nagawa, H., Tsuruo, T. & Muto, T. (1998) Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase but not thymidylate synthase expression is associated with resistance to 5-fluorouracil in colorectal cancer. *Hepatogastroenterology*, 45, 2117-2122.
- Noguchi, T., Fujiwara, S., Takeno, S., Kai, S., Mizuta, A., Nagao, Y. & Uchida, Y. (2003) Clinical impact of thymidine phosphorylase expression in gastric cancer. *Oncol Rep*, 10, 561-566.
- Nord, L. D., Stolfi, R. L. & Martin, D. S. (1992) Biochemical modulation of 5-fluorouracil with leucovorin or delayed uridine rescue. Correlation of antitumor activity with dosage and FUra incorporation into RNA. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 43, 2543-2549.
- Ogawa, M., Bergsagel, D. E. & Mcculloch, E. A. (1973) Chemotherapy of mouse myeloma: quantitative cell cultures predictive of response in vivo. *Blood*, 41, 7-15.

- Okabe, M., Ikawa, M., Kominami, K., Nakanishi, T. & Nishimune, Y. (1997) 'Green mice' as a source of ubiquitous green cells. *FEBS Lett*, 407, 313-319.
- Peters, G. J., Van Groeningen, C. J., Laurensse, E., Kraal, I., Leyva, A., Lankelma, J. & Pinedo, H. M. (1987a) Effect of pyrimidine nucleosides on body temperatures of man and rabbit in relation to pharmacokinetic data. *Pharm Res*, 4, 113-119.
- Peters, G. J., Van Groeningen, C. J., Laurensse, E. J., Lankelma, J., Leyva, A. & Pinedo, H. M. (1987b) Uridine-induced hypothermia in mice and rats in relation to plasma and tissue levels of uridine and its metabolites. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 20, 101-108.
- Peters, G. J., Van Dijk, J., Laurensse, E., Van Groeningen, C. J., Lankelma, J., Leyva, A., Nadal, J. C. & Pinedo, H. M. (1988) In vitro biochemical and in vivo biological studies of the uridine 'rescue' of 5-fluorouracil. *Br J Cancer*, 57, 259-265.
- Peters, G. J., Noordhuis, P., Komissarov, A., Holwerda, U., Kok, R. M., Vanlaar, J. A. M., Vanderwilt, C. L., Vangroeningen, C. J. & Pinedo, H. M. (1995) Quantification of 5-Fluorouracil Incorporation into Rna of Human and Murine Tumors as Measured with a Sensitive Gas-Chromatography Mass-Spectrometry Assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 231, 157-163.
- Pike, B. L. & Robinson, W. A. (1970) Human bone marrow colony growth in agar-gel. *J Cell Physiol*, 76, 77-84.
- Pluznik, D. H. & Sachs, L. (1965) The cloning of normal "mast" cells in tissue culture. J Cell Physiol, 66, 319-324.
- Pollice, A. A., Smith, C. A., Brown, K., Farkas, D. L., Silverman, J. F. & Shackney, S. E. (2000) Multiparameter analysis of human epithelial tumor cell lines by laser scanning cytometry. *Cytometry*, 42, 347-356.
- Prasher, D. C., Eckenrode, V. K., Ward, W. W., Prendergast, F. G. & Cormier, M. J. (1992) Primary structure of the Aequorea victoria green-fluorescent protein. *Gene*, 111, 229-233.
- Prusoff, W. H. & Ward, D. C. (1976) Nucleoside analogs with antiviral activity. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 25, 1233-1239.
- Randerath, K., Tseng, W. C., Harris, J. S. & Lu, L. J. W. (1983) Specific Effects of 5-Fluoropyrimidines and 5-Azapyrimidines on Modification of the 5 Position of Pyrimidines, in Particular the Synthesis of 5-Methyluracil and 5-Methylcytosine in Nucleic-Acids. *Recent Results in Cancer Research*, 84, 283-297.
- Rooseboom, M., Commandeur, J. N. & Vermeulen, N. P. (2004) Enzyme-catalyzed activation of anticancer prodrugs. *Pharmacol Rev*, 56, 53-102.
- Rustum, Y. M. (1997) Mechanism-based improvement in the therapeutic selectivity of 5-FU prodrug alone and under conditions of metabolic modulation. *Oncology*, 54 Suppl 1, 7-11.
- Rutman, R. J., Cantarow, A. & Paschkis, K. E. (1954) Studies in 2-acetylaminofluorene carcinogenesis 3. The utilization of uracil-2-C-14 by preneoplastic rat liver and rat hepatoma. *Cancer Res*, 14, 119-123.

- Sadahiro, S., Otani, Y., Oya, K., Ike, H., Shimada, H., Yamaguchi, S., Hiki, Y., Fujita, H. & Mitomi, T. (2001) Thymidine phosphorylase expression and effect of doxifluridine: A phase II study. *Oncology Reports*, 8, 753-758.
- Salonga, D., Danenberg, K. D., Johnson, M., Metzger, R., Groshen, S., Tsao-Wei, D. D., Lenz, H. J., Leichman, C. G., Leichman, L., Diasio, R. B. & Danenberg, P. V. (2000) Colorectal tumors responding to 5-fluorouracil have low gene expression levels of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase, thymidylate synthase, and thymidine phosphorylase. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 6, 1322-1327.
- Santi, D. V. & Hardy, L. W. (1987) Catalytic Mechanism and Inhibition of Transfer-Rna (Uracil-5-)Methyltransferase - Evidence for Covalent Catalysis. *Biochemistry*, 26, 8599-8606.
- Schoffski, P. (2004) The modulated oral fluoropyrimidine prodrug S-1, and its use in gastrointestinal cancer and other solid tumors. *Anticancer Drugs*, 15, 85-106.
- Schwartz, E. L., Baptiste, N., Wadler, S. & Makower, D. (1995) Thymidine Phosphorylase Mediates the Sensitivity of Human Colon-Carcinoma Cells to 5-Fluorouracil. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 270, 19073-19077.
- Schwartz, G. K., Christman, K., Saltz, L., Casper, E., Quan, V., Bertino, J., Martin, D. S., Colofiore, J. & Kelsen, D. (1996) A phase I trial of a modified, dose intensive FAMTX regimen (high dose 5-fluorouracil+doxorubicin+high dose methotrexate+leucovorin) with oral uridine rescue. *Cancer*, 78, 1988-1995.
- Shimomura, O., Johnson, F. H. & Saiga, Y. (1962) Extraction, purification and properties of aequorin, a bioluminescent protein from the luminous hydromedusan, Aequorea. J Cell Comp Physiol, 59, 223-239.
- Shirasaka, T., Shimamoto, Y. & Fukushima, M. (1993) Inhibition by oxonic acid of gastrointestinal toxicity of 5-fluorouracil without loss of its antitumor activity in rats. *Cancer Res*, 53, 4004-4009.
- Shirasaka, T., Shimamato, Y., Ohshimo, H., Yamaguchi, M., Kato, T., Yonekura, K. & Fukushima, M. (1996a) Development of a novel form of an oral 5-fluorouracil derivative (S-1) directed to the potentiation of the tumor selective cytotoxicity of 5fluorouracil by two biochemical modulators. *Anticancer Drugs*, 7, 548-557.
- Shirasaka, T., Nakano, K., Takechi, T., Satake, H., Uchida, J., Fujioka, A., Saito, H., Okabe, H., Oyama, K., Takeda, S., Unemi, N. & Fukushima, M. (1996b) Antitumor activity of 1 M tegafur-0.4 M 5-chloro-2,4-dihydroxypyridine-1 M potassium oxonate (S-1) against human colon carcinoma orthotopically implanted into nude rats. *Cancer Res*, 56, 2602-2606.
- Shulga, N., Mosammaparast, N., Wozniak, R. & Goldfarb, D. S. (2000) Yeast nucleoporins involved in passive nuclear envelope permeability. *J Cell Biol*, 149, 1027-1038.
- Steiner, G. E., Ecker, R. C., Kramer, G., Stockenhuber, F. & Marberger, M. J. (2000) Automated data acquisition by confocal laser scanning microscopy and image analysis of triple stained immunofluorescent leukocytes in tissue. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 237, 39-50.

- Szabolcs, A., Sági, I. & Ötvös, L. (1975) Synthesis of 5-alkyl-2'-deoxy-uridines. *Carbohydr Nucleoside Nucleotide*, 2, 197-211.
- Takebayashi, Y., Yamada, K., Miyadera, K., Sumizawa, T., Furukawa, T., Kinoshita, F., Aoki, D., Okumura, H., Yamada, Y., Akiyama, S. & Aikou, T. (1996) The activity and expression of thymidine phosphorylase in human solid tumours. *European Journal of Cancer*, 32A, 1227-1232.
- Takiguchi, N., Ishii, R., Koda, K., Oda, K. & Miyazaki, M. (2003) Thymidine phosphorylase expression correlates with malignant potential and anti-tumor effect of doxifluridine on gastric cancer: multivariate analysis for adjuvant chemotherapy doxifluridine vs. 5fluorouracil. Oncol Rep, 10, 1105-1111.
- Tarnok, A. & Gerstner, A. O. H. (2002) Clinical applications of laser scanning cytometry. *Cytometry*, 50, 133-143.
- Terashima, M., Fujiwara, H., Takagane, A., Abe, K., Araya, M., Irinoda, T., Yonezawa, H., Nakaya, T., Oyama, K., Takahashi, M. & Saito, K. (2002) Role of thymidine phosphorylase and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in tumour progression and sensitivity to doxifluridine in gastric cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer*, 38, 2375-2381.
- Tognella, S. (1992) Uridine rescue of the FUra toxicity; the possible role of uridinediphosphoglucose (UDPG). *Anticancer Research*, 12, 1923-1924.
- Toi, M., Rahman, M. A., Bando, H. & Chow, L. W. C. (2005) Thymidine phosphorylase (platelet-derived endothelial-cell growth factor) in cancer biology and treatment. *Lancet Oncology*, 6, 158-166.
- Tominaga, T., Toi, M., Ohashi, Y. & Abe, O. (2002) Prognostic and predictive value of thymidine phosphorylase activity in early-stage breast cancer patients. *Clin Breast Cancer*, 3, 55-64.
- Trillet-Lenoir, V., Green, J., Manegold, C., Von Pawel, J., Gatzemeier, U., Lebeau, B., Depierre, A., Johnson, P., Decoster, G., Tomita, D. & Et Al. (1993) Recombinant granulocyte colony stimulating factor reduces the infectious complications of cytotoxic chemotherapy. *Eur J Cancer*, 29A, 319-324.
- Van Der Wilt, C. L., Pinedo, H. M., Smid, K. & Peters, G. J. (1992) Elevation of thymidylate synthase following 5-fluorouracil treatment is prevented by the addition of leucovorin in murine colon tumors. *Cancer Res*, 52, 4922-4928.
- Van Der Wilt, C. L., Pinedo, H. M., De Jong, M. & Peters, G. J. (1993) Effect of folate diastereoisomers on the binding of 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine-5'-monophosphate to thymidylate synthase. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 45, 1177-1179.
- Van Groeningen, C. J., Leyva, A., Kraal, I., Peters, G. J. & Pinedo, H. M. (1986) Clinical and pharmacokinetic studies of prolonged administration of high-dose uridine intended for rescue from 5-FU toxicity. *Cancer Treat Rep*, 70, 745-750.
- Van Groeningen, C. J., Peters, G. J. & Pinedo, H. M. (1992) Modulation of fluorouracil toxicity with uridine. *Semin Oncol*, 19, 148-154.

- Van Laar, J. A., Van Der Wilt, C. L., Rustum, Y. M., Noordhuis, P., Smid, K., Pinedo, H. M. & Peters, G. J. (1996) Therapeutic efficacy of fluoropyrimidines depends on the duration of thymidylate synthase inhibition in the murine colon 26-B carcinoma tumor model. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 2, 1327-1333.
- Weckbecker, G. (1991) Biochemical pharmacology and analysis of fluoropyrimidines alone and in combination with modulators. *Pharmacol Ther*, 50, 367-424.
- Yang, F., Moss, L. G. & Phillips, G. N., Jr. (1996) The molecular structure of green fluorescent protein. *Nat Biotechnol*, 14, 1246-1251.
- Yang, Q. F., Barbareschi, M., Mori, I., Mauri, F., Muscara, M., Nakamura, M., Nakamura, Y., Yoshimura, G., Sakurai, T., Caffo, O., Galligioni, E., Dalla Palma, P. & Kakudo, K. (2002) Prognostic value of thymidine phosphorylase expression in breast carcinoma. *International Journal of Cancer*, 97, 512-517.
- Zaniboni, A., Labianca, R., Marsoni, S., Torri, V., Mosconi, P., Grilli, R., Apolone, G., Cifani, S. & Tinazzi, A. (1998) GIVIO-SITAC 01 - A randomized trial of adjuvant 5fluorouracil and folinic acid administered to patients with colon carcinoma - Long term results and evaluation of the indicators of health-related quality of life. *Cancer*, 82, 2135-2144.

#### **PUBLICATIONS ON WHICH THIS THESIS IS BASED ON**

#### **Full length articles**

Megyeri, A., Bacso, Z., Shields, A. & Eliason, J. F. (2005) Development of a stereological method to measure levels of fluoropyrimidine metabolizing enzymes in tumor sections using laser scanning cytometry. *Cytometry Part A*, 64A, 62-71.

IF: 1.061

Megyeri, A., Kaplan, J. & Eliason, J. F. (2004) Laser Scanning Cytometry for selection of green fluorescent protein transgenic mice using small number of blood cells. *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods*, 61, 183-187.

IF: 1.302

Eliason, J. F. & Megyeri, A. (2004) Potential for predicting toxicity and response of fluoropyrimidines in patients. *Current Drug Targets*, 5, 383-388.

IF: 4.104

- Megyeri, A., Benko, I., Jeney, A., Kralovanszky, J. & Kovacs, P. (1996) Effect of ethyldeoxyuridine on 5-fluorouracil-induced neutropenia. *Acta Physiologica Hungarica*, 84, 217-218.
- Kovacs, P., Benko, I., Megyeri, A., Hernadi, F., Jeney, A. & Kralovanszky, J. (1994) Effect of uridine rescue on 5-fluorouracil-induced neutropenia. IN Einhorn, J., Nord, C. E. & Norrby, S. R. (Eds.) *Recent Advances in Chemotherapy*. Washington, American Soc. Microbiol. 952-952.

## Abstracts

Eliason, J. F., Megyeri, A., Sun, H. & Shields, A. F. (2003) Pharmacoproteomics for fluoropyrimidine drugs: A method for measuring ratios of enzyme levels in sections of archival tissue. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 9, 6198S-6198S.

- Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A., Benko, I., Kurucz, A., Jeney, A. & Kralovanszky, J. (1995) Effect of uridine and leucovorin on 5-fluorouracil-induced damage and regeneration of murine bone marrow. *Stem Cells*, 13, 568-569.
- Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A., Benko, I. & Jeney, A. (1999) Synergism of uridine and rhG CSF in promoting recovery from 5-fluorouracil-induced neutropenia. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 13, 362S.
- Megyeri, A., Benko, I., Jeney, A., Kralovanszky, J. & Kovacs, P. (1997) Modification of the myelotoxicity of single or repeated doses of 5-fluorouracil by ethyldeoxyuridine. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology*, 356, 75-75.
- Megyeri, A., Benko, I., Kralovanszky, J. & Kovacs, P. (1999) Effect of uridine and rhG-CSF on neutropenia induced by 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in mice. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 13, 360S.

## **OTHER PUBLICATIONS**

#### **Full length articles**

Gidali, J., Feher, I., **Megyeri, A.** & Kovacs, P. (2001) Leukaemogenic potency of WEHI-3B cells grown in vitro or in leukaemic mice. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 28, 699-704.

IF: 2.554

Benko, I., Kovacs, P., Szegedi, I., Megyeri, A., Kiss, A., Balogh, E., Olah, E., Kappelmayer,
J. & Kiss, C. (2001) Effect of myelopoietic and pleiotropic cytokines on colony formation by blast cells of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology*, 363, 499-508.

IF: 2.472

Benko, I., Hernadi, F., Megyeri, A., Kiss, A., Somogyi, G., Tegyey, Z., Kraicsovits, F. &

IF: 3.296

- Benko, I., Marodi, L., Megyeri, A., Kaposzta, R. & Kovacs, P. (1996) Effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on granulopoiesis of congenital neutropenic children. *Acta Physiologica Hungarica*, 84, 169-170.
- Benko, I., Megyeri, A., Hernadi, F. & Kovacs, P. (1996) Antifungális hatású imidazolszármazékok hatása egér csontvelősejtek in vitro kolóniaképzésére. Acta Pharmaceutica Hungarica, 66, 241-245.

## Abstracts

- Benko, I., Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A. & Hernadi, F. (1994) Effect of imidazole antifungal agents on colony formation by murine CFUc (Colony Forming Units in Culture). *Polish J. Pharmacol.*, 46, 352-353.
- Benko, I., Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A., Szegedi, I. & Kiss, C. (1997) Stimulation of blast cells in vitro in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia by granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (rhGM-CSF), granulocyte colony stimulating factor (rhG-CSF) and stem cell factor (SCF). *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology*, 356, 77-77.
- Benko, I., Megyeri, A., Kiss, A. & Kovacs, P. (1999) Azol antifungális anyagok hatása in vitro granulocyta-macrophag progenitor sejtekre. *Magyar Onkológia*, 43, 277.
- Benko, I., Kiss, C., Megyeri, A. & Kovacs, P. (1999) Effect of granulocyte colony stimulating factor on bone marrow cells of children with acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 13, 363S.

Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A., Hernadi, F. & Institoris, L. (1994) Effect of disuccinyl-dianhydro-

galactitol on murine bone marrow: influence of route of administration and sex of mice. *Polish J. Pharmacol.*, 46, 270-270.

Kovacs, P., Megyeri, A., Institoris, L., Szentmiklosi, J. A. & Benko, I. (1997) Sensitivity of a bone marrow progenitor cell (CFUc) population to dianhydrogalactitol (DAG) or its diacetyl-derivative in mice pretreated with the same agent. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology*, 356, 76-76.

## **9** ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Zoltán Szilvássy (Head of Department of Pharmacology, University of Debrecen) for permitting and supporting my work.

I thank to my advisor Prof. Péter Kovács (Department of Pharmacology, University of Debrecen), for introducing me to research and pharmacology. His thoughts and ideas inspired and encouraged me throughout the whole work described in this thesis. Without his help and advises this dissertation could not have been written.

I am also indebted to Dr. James F. Eliason (Karmanos Cancer Institute, Detroit, MI, USA) who provided me the opportunity to expand my interest to Laser Scanning Cytometry and helped and inspired my work.

I thank Prof. Dr. András Jeney (1st Department of Pathology, Semmelweis University, Budapest) and Dr. Judit Kralovánszky (National Institue of Oncology, Budapest) for their valuable advices and help.

I also would like specifically mention Dr. Zsolt Bacsó (Department of Biophysics, University of Debrecen), whose expertise and friendly help significantly contributed to the improvement of my knowledge about the methods of cytometry, and Dr. Ilona Benkő (Department of Pharmacology, University of Debrecen), who helped me a lot during the work with the biochemical modulators.

I am also especially grateful to all those people whose work was also indispensable to reach these results, but unfortunately it would be too long to list all of them.

Finally I have to thank to my family whose tolerance and support behind the scenes greatly helped my work.